## **UC Berkeley**

**UC Berkeley Previously Published Works** 

## Title

Coherence of emotional response systems: Theory, measurement, and benefits

## Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/00k2k522

## ISBN

9780443294266

## Authors

Mauss, Iris B Zerwas, Felicia K Wilhelm, Frank H <u>et al.</u>

### **Publication Date**

2024

## DOI

10.1016/bs.aesp.2023.11.002

Peer reviewed

# Coherence of emotional response systems: Theory, measurement, and benefits

# Iris B. Mauss<sup>a,\*</sup>, Felicia K. Zerwas<sup>b</sup>, Frank H. Wilhelm<sup>c</sup>, and Oliver P. John<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Psychology, University of California, Berkeley, CA, United States

<sup>b</sup>Department of Psychology, New York University, NY, United States

<sup>c</sup>Department of Psychology, Paris Lodron University Salzburg, Austria

\*Corresponding author. e-mail address: imauss@berkeley.edu

#### Contents

Do emotion response systems cohere? Two divergent views and a reconciliation	61
1.1 Latent theories of emotions and coherence	62
1.2 Emergent theories of emotions and coherence	68
1.3 Integration: Implications of the latent and emergent views for coherence	70
Methodological considerations: How can emotion response system coherence be studied?	74
<ul><li>2.1 Should coherence be measured with between-person or within-person approaches?</li></ul>	74
<b>2.2</b> Should coherence be measured with pairwise approaches or for all three systems at once?	79
2.3 What experimental and research-design factors need to be considered?	81
2.4 Which response systems should we measure and how can we measure them?	83
2.5 Practical steps: how do we get from time series to coherence indices?	88
What do we know about coherence among response systems and the benefits of coherence?	92
3.1 How pronounced is response system coherence during emotions?	103
<b>3.2</b> Does response system coherence vary across types of coherence, emotions, contexts, and people?	116
3.3 Does response system coherence have benefits?	120
Methodological, theoretical, and well-being implications	121
4.1 Methodological and measurement implications	121
4.2 Implications for emotion theory	124
4.3 Implications for well-being and mental health	130
Directions for future research	132
5.1 Basic advances in the study of coherence	132
5.2 Differences across types of coherence, emotions, contexts, and people	134
5.3 Implications for well-being and health	137
	<ul> <li>Do emotion response systems cohere? Two divergent views and a reconciliation</li> <li>1.1 Latent theories of emotions and coherence</li> <li>1.2 Emergent theories of emotions and coherence</li> <li>1.3 Integration: Implications of the latent and emergent views for coherence Methodological considerations: How can emotion response system coherence be studied?</li> <li>2.1 Should coherence be measured with between-person or within-person approaches?</li> <li>2.2 Should coherence be measured with pairwise approaches or for all three systems at once?</li> <li>2.3 What experimental and research-design factors need to be considered?</li> <li>2.4 Which response systems should we measure and how can we measure them?</li> <li>2.5 Practical steps: how do we get from time series to coherence indices?</li> <li>What do we know about coherence among response systems and the benefits of coherence?</li> <li>3.1 How pronounced is response system coherence during emotions?</li> <li>3.2 Does response system coherence have benefits?</li> <li>Methodological and measurement implications</li> <li>4.1 Methodological and measurement implications</li> <li>4.2 Implications for emotion theory</li> <li>4.3 Implications for well-being and mental health</li> <li>Directions for future research</li> <li>5.1 Basic advances in the study of coherence</li> <li>5.2 Differences across types of coherence</li> <li>5.3 Implications for well-being and health</li> </ul>

6. Conclusion	138
Acknowledgments	138
References	138

#### Abstract

Emotions are core to the human experience, with questions about what they are going back millennia. Most psychological theorists agree that emotions involve responses in multiple systems (experience, behavior, and physiology). However, theorists disagree regarding how these responses relate to one another. Here, we propose an integrative view that predicts *some* coherence exists but that the degree of coherence and its benefits *vary* across types of coherence, people, emotions, and contexts. We begin by addressing the theoretical underpinnings of coherence, and how their implications for coherence can be integrated. Then, we outline methodological considerations for empirically testing the predictions of this integrative view. Next, we review research from the past two decades that speaks to—and generally supports—these predictions, and discuss its theoretical and well-being implications. We close by discussing directions for future research on coherence that will further advance this area of profound theoretical and practical importance.

Emotions are a central part of the human experience, and they feature prominently in philosophy, psychology, and popular discourse (Barrett, 2017a; Darwin, 1872; Nussbaum, 2001). Most theorists agree that emotions involve responses in three kinds of systems: how we *feel*, how we *behave*, and how our *bodies react*. However, we have much less clarity on how the responses in these three systems—experience, behavior, and physiology—relate to each other during emotional episodes. Are the responses in the three systems highly coordinated with each other (thus showing substantial coherence), or does each of the three systems operate independently (thus showing little coherence)? This question of *coherence* is a topic of considerable theoretical difference in the field.

One theoretical view (here referred to as the *latent view*) maintains that (1) during an emotion, multiple response systems become synchronized and show substantial coherence, and (2) greater coherence contributes to beneficial outcomes for the individual (e.g., Ekman, 1992; Levenson, 2003). The other view (here referred to as the *emergent view*) maintains that response systems usually do not cohere during emotions (e.g., Russell, 2003). Our understanding of coherence serves as a critical foundation for how we think about emotions, with important implications for understanding what emotions are, what functions they serve, and how we measure them.

In this review, we aim to clarify our understanding of coherence and propose an integration of the two views of coherence.<sup>1</sup> In Section 1, we begin by describing the latent and emergent views of emotion and their implications for coherence. We then propose how the two views can be reconciled and integrated based on recent theorizing and research, leading to a more comprehensive and nuanced understanding of coherence. In Section 2, we lay out the major conceptual and methodological foundations for how to study coherence. In Section 3, we summarize empirical evidence regarding coherence. In Section 4, we discuss important methodological, theoretical, and well-being implications of our review and analysis and, in Section 5, we discuss directions for future research.

# 1. Do emotion response systems cohere? Two divergent views and a reconciliation

What is an emotion? In modern psychology's answers to this question, many perspectives converge on the idea that emotions involve the whole organism, including experience, behavior, and physiology (see Kleinginna & Kleinginna, 1981; Lang, 1988; Mesquita et al., 2003; Scherer, 1984; Tomkins, 1962). The idea that emotions involve multiple response systems, or types of responses, cuts across different traditions in affective science, including biological-evolutionary, appraisal, and social-constructivist theories (Kleinginna & Kleinginna, 1981). The most commonly represented emotion response systems<sup>2</sup> in psychological science are experience, behavior, and peripheral physiology.<sup>3</sup> Experience refers to the qualia of having an emotion; what it feels like to be angry, sad, or happy, for instance (Coan, 2010; Russell, 2003). Behavior refers to overt behaviors, including facial (e.g., raising of the lips),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Here, we use the term coherence to refer to emotion response system coherence. Different terms have been used for the phenomenon, including response component syndromes (Averill, 1980; Reisenzein, 2000a), organization of response tendencies (Lazarus, 1991; Levenson, 1994), coherence (Ekman, 1992; Mauss et al., 2005), organization of response components (Frijda et al., 1992; Scherer, 1984), concordance (Hollenstein & Lanteigne, 2014; Lang, 1988; Wilhelm & Roth, 2001), and synchrony (Danyluck & Page-Gould, 2019). We use coherence here as it is relatively value neutral and accommodates various types of organization and dynamics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> We use the term *emotion response systems* to refer to the various responses that can occur during emotions. We note this does not imply that these responses are specific or unique to emotion; rather, they are involved in other psychological and behavioral responses as well (see Barrett, 2017b; Cunningham, Dunfield, & Stillman, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> We do not consider central nervous system activation a response system in this context, because the various emotional responses are instantiated and represented in it.

vocal (e.g., tone of voice), whole-body (e.g., pumping one's fists in the air and raising one's chin), and instrumental ones (e.g., striking someone; Fridlund et al., 1987; Keltner et al., 2019). Peripheral physiology refers to autonomic physiology (e.g., heart rate, blood pressure, or vagal tone), endocrine responses (e.g., cortisol), and somato-visceral responses (e.g., muscle tension, stomach churning; Levenson, 2003; Mendes, 2016).

While emotion theorists agree that emotions involve several response systems in some way, shape, or form, different theories diverge sharply in terms of how they assume different types of responses relate to one another. Theories can be aligned along a gradient of coherence they imply, that is, the degree to which responses are thought to become synchronized when a person is emotional. To illustrate this gradient of coherence, consider two people, Person A and Person B, who are both experiencing anger. Person A displays angry behaviors (e.g., a furrowed brow and a raised voice) and has physiological responses associated with anger (e.g., increased heart rate and blood pressure). In contrast, Person B displays behaviors not associated with anger (e.g., a friendly smile) and does not have physiological responses associated with anger (e.g., no change in heart rate or blood pressure). In this example, Person A shows more coherence (i.e., their experience, behavior, and physiology align) than Person B (i.e., their experience does not align with either their behavior or their physiology).

Table 1 provides examples of prominent theories of emotion and their implications for emotion response system coherence. The table is organized along the gradient of coherence, ordering theories from relatively more to relatively less coherence. The theories at the top of Table 1 assume greater coherence and can be subsumed under the umbrella of latent emotion theories, as proposed by Coan (2010). In contrast, the theories at the bottom of the table assume less or no coherence and can be subsumed under the umbrella of emergent emotion theories (see Coan, 2010). In the next sections, we outline how emotion theories in the latent and the emergent grouping conceptualize emotion coherence and its functions. Then, we propose an integration of these theories.

#### 1.1 Latent theories of emotions and coherence

As summarized in the upper part of Table 1, several emotion theories suggest responses should cohere rather tightly with one another (Ekman, 1977; Ekman, 1992; Lazarus, 1991; Levenson, 1994, 2003; Scherer, 1984; Tomkins, 1962). These theories are similar in that they presume a causal (or latent) emotion mechanism that, once activated, coordinates multiple

Table 1 Major theories of emotions an coherence. View on coherence of resonnee evster	nd their views on emotional response coherence, ordered by gradient of stronger versus weaker ms
James (1884, pp. 189–190)	"My thesis is that the bodily changes follow directly the perception of the exciting fact, and that our feeling of the same changes as they occur is the emotion."
Watson (1924, p. 195)	"An emotion is a hereditary 'pattern-reaction' involving profound changes of the bodily mechanism as a whole, but particularly of the visceral and glandular systems."
Dolan (2002, p. 1191)	"Emotions are embodied and manifest in uniquely recognizable, and stereotyped, behavioral patterns of facial expression, comportment, and autonomic arousal."
Darwin (1872/1965, pp. 349–350)	"Actions of all kinds, if regularly accompanying any state of mind, are at once recognized as expressive. () That the chief expressive actions, exhibited by man and by lower animals, are now innate or inherited, –that is, have not been learnt by the individual, –is admitted by every one."
Bowlby (1969, p. 104)	"Emotions are phases of an individual's intuitive appraisals either of his own organismic states and urges to act or of the succession of environmental situations in which he finds himself."
Tooby and Cosmides (2008, pp. 117–118)	"An emotion is a superordinate program whose function is to direct the activities and interactions of the subprograms governing perception; attention; () physiological reactions (such as heart rate, endocrine function, immune function) () behavioral decision rules; motor systems; communication processes; energy level and effort allocation; affective coloration of events and stimuli; and so on. () Each emotion entrains various other adaptive programs—deactivating some, activating others, and adjusting the modifiable parameters of still others—so that the whole system operates in a particularly harmonious and efficacious way when the individual is confronting certain kinds of triggering conditions or situations."

ų L 2:2 کے ح - op 4 -Laboration L ÿ 4 Toble 1 Mais

coherence. (cont/d) View on coherence of response system	
Ekman (1977, p. 59)	"Emotion refers to the process whereby an elicitor is appraised automatically or in an extended fashion, an affect programme may or may not be set off, organized responses may occur, albeit more or less managed by attempts to control emotional behavior."
Levenson (1999, p. 481)	"Physiologically, emotions rapidly organize the responses of disparate biological systems including facial expression, somatic muscular tonus, voice tone, autonomic nervous system activity, and endocrine activity to produce a bodily milieu that is optimal for effective response."
Lazarus (1975, p. 554)	"I define and analyze emotion as a complex disturbance that induces three main components: subjective affect, physiological changes related to species-specific forms of mobilization for adaptive action, and action impulses having both instrumental and expressive qualities."
Ellsworth et al. (1994, pp. 192–193)	"Usually the process of emotion () is initiated when one's attention is captured by some discrepancy or change. When this happens, one's state is different, physiologically and psychologically, from what it was before."
Gross (2015, p. 3)	"Emotions involve loosely coupled changes in the domains of subjective experience, behavior, and peripheral physiology."
Lang (1988, p. 177)	"The three data subsystems in emotion [verbal reports of experience, behavior, and visceral-somatic activation] are only loosely coupled, presenting a variable configuration within and between subjects and contexts."

Table 1 Major theories of emotions and their views on emotional response coherence, ordered by gradient of stronger versus weaker

Mesquita (2003, p. 872)	"Different emotion components do not automatically follow from each other. Each has its particular determinants, in addition to the occurrence of an emotionally charged event. The components tend to influence, but not fully determine, each other."
Coan (2010, p. 274)	"Emotions do not cause, but rather are caused by, the measured indicators of emotion, assuming no executive neural circuit or network, and requiring no covariation among indicators."
Russell (2003, p. 152)	"Each of the components listed can occur alone. Sometimes, pairs or larger groupings of components occur. Occasionally, the various events happen to co-occur in a pattern that fits the prototype. Because of dissociations among the components, a huge variety of combinations occur, which therefore vary in their resemblance to the prototype. There are many ways to resemble the prototype."

responses, thus yielding coherence (see Fig. 1 for a schematic depiction). However, they differ in the nature of the mechanism they postulate, falling roughly into three groups (see Barrett, 2017b): (a) basic emotion theories (e.g., Ekman, 1992; Keltner et al., 2019; Tracy & Randles, 2011), which invoke a biological-evolutionary mechanism, (b) appraisal theories, which invoke a cognitive mechanism (Ellsworth et al., 2003; Frijda, 1988; Lazarus, 1991; Roseman, 2011; Scherer, 1984), and (c) functionalist theories of emotion, which leave the exact mechanism unspecified (Anderson & Adolphs, 2014; Davis, 1992).

The latent view of emotion - and its implications for coherence - is illustrated by Coan (2010) with the example of a bear charging at a person in the wilderness (see also Bollen & Lennox, 1991; De Houwer, 2011, for a discussion of similar ideas). "The latent variable model argues that the charging bear activates "fear," which in turn activates the subjective, physiological, and behavioral sequelae of that fear" (p. 279). Given there is one central mechanism that causes all sequalae, we would expect relatively high levels of coherence during emotions according to these theories. We might make three additional predictions based on the latent view of emotions. First, we might expect that the more intensely the central mechanism is activated the greater coherence becomes; that is, coherence should increase with increasing emotional intensity. Second, given the system is driven by one central mechanism, we might expect coherence to operate in an all-or-none manner, such that coherence is absent or present across the whole organism, regardless of the particular response system involved (i.e., there should be experience-behavior, experience-physiology, and behavior-physiology coherence to equal amounts). Third, we



Fig. 1 Schematic of the latent view of emotions with examples for indicators of experience, behavior, and physiology. Arrows represent causal direction.

might expect coherence to be invariant, that is, not affected by the particular emotion, person, or context (cf. Davidson, 1992).

An important corollary of the idea that emotions involve coherent responses is that coherence is beneficial—that is, greater coherence is associated with benefits for the individual such as better functioning or greater well-being (Brown et al., 2020; Ekman, 1992; Lazarus, 1991; Levenson, 2003, 2014; Plutchik, 1980). The idea is that emotions coordinate responses across systems and impose coherence, thus allowing people to deal efficiently with important challenges and tasks. Levenson (2003) illustrated this idea in the context of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) responding in emotions: "Like a modern factory that subscribes to the "just in time" model of inventory control, the ANS not only has to deliver sufficient quantities of all of the components needed to craft an appropriate response, but also has to deliver them at precisely the right time, and then quickly remove anything that is unused" (Levenson, 2003, p. 350).

In the example above, our hypothetical Person A (high coherence) should be able to deal more effectively with the angering event than Person B (low coherence) because (a) they show anger in their face and gestures, thus communicating their experience of anger more directly and accurately to others, and (b) their physiology supports activation, allowing them to vigorously address the anger-eliciting event. Over time, repeated instances of coherent emotional responses and the accompanying effective addressing of challenges should accumulate to better functioning, social relationships, and well-being. We can thus think about coherence at the state level (instances with more coherent responses should be associated with greater benefits than instances with less coherent responses) or at the individual-differences level (people who tend to exhibit more coherent responses should experience greater benefits than people who tend to exhibit less coherent responses).

The idea that coherence is beneficial stems from the theoretical background that emotions have evolved because they serve particular functions (Darwin, 1872). Specifically, evolutionary-biological theories argue that emotions have evolved in part because they impose coherence across response systems, which helps people respond quickly and effectively to important challenges in their ancestral environments and thus survive, reproduce, and thrive (Ekman, 1992; Keltner et al., 2019; Levenson, 2014; Plutchik, 1980; Tooby & Cosmides, 2008). For example, Tooby and Cosmides (2008, p. 117) write: "Thus each emotion evolved to deal with a particular, evolutionarily recurrent situation type. The design features of the emotion program, when the emotion is activated, presume the presence of an ancestrally structured situation type (regardless of the actual structure of the modern world)."

Overall, then, latent theories predict that coherence across response systems should be substantial, and that coherence is generally beneficial. However, on closer view, these theories allow for nuance, and this simple conclusion might require some qualifications. For one, a response system that is inflexible and invariant at all levels would not be very useful (Davidson, 1992; Scherer, 1984; Tooby & Cosmides, 2008). Indeed, looking more closely at Fig. 1 we see that each response system consists of multiple subsystems, such as facial movements, vocal tone, and body posture for the behavioral response system. Clearly, these three subsystems differ in their responsiveness, and we would not expect them to all be perfectly coherent in all emotions and all circumstances. This suggests nuance, to which we will return after contrasting latent theories with emergent theories of emotions.

#### 1.2 Emergent theories of emotions and coherence

On the other end of the spectrum, as shown in the lower part of Table 1, several emotion theories lead to the prediction that responses do not or only minimally cohere during emotional episodes. At their core, these theories differ from the latent theories in denying the existence of a "central" or "latent" emotion mechanism that gives rise to coherent responses. Rather, as illustrated in Fig. 2, they view emotions as emerging, or being constructed



**Fig. 2** Schematic of the emergent view of emotions with examples for indicators of experience, behavior, and physiology. Arrows represent causal direction. Emotion is in quotes to indicate that it emerges in people's perception when multiple indicators are perceived to resemble an emotion.

from, multiple responses that do not inherently or necessarily cohere (Boiger & Mesquita, 2012; Lindquist, 2013; Mesquita et al., 2003; Russell, 2003), which is why they are sometimes referred to as emergent theories (Coan, 2010). Usually, but not necessarily, these theories fall in the category of social-constructivist theories (cf. Crivelli & Fridlund, 2019).

For example, someone who is angry might physically assault the other person, yell at a bystander, stew in silence, try to escape a confrontation, or smile in a conciliatory way (Barrett et al., 2019). In each case, the person would still be angry, but we would not expect coherence given these quite different patterns of behavior. Conversely, similar configurations of facial movements can express instances of more than one emotion category. A smile can mean someone feels happy, nervous, angry, or not emotional at all but is only polite, depending on the person or the situation. It is possible that responses, *when they cohere*, are more likely to be labeled as an emotion but this is because they correspond to lay beliefs about emotions, not because the emotion inherently involves coherence: "Prototypical emotional episodes are coherent packages, not because they stem from one mechanism, but because they are just those cases selected by an observer on the basis of their resemblance to a coherent package: the folk concept" (Russell, 2003, p. 152).

Going back to the example of the charging bear, Coan (2010) illustrates the emergent view (pp. 179–180):

In the emergent variable model, no fear circuit is necessary. The bear charges, the brain perceives a number of unique problems that require solving, and the problem-solving ensues: First, and possibly foremost, the bear must be avoided, and avoidance-based behavioral action plans are formed. Second, the body must become physiologically prepared for quick and vigorous action, and ANS [autonomic nervous system] arousal meets that need. Third, elements of the experience must, by virtue of their life-threatening intensity, be tagged as highly salient in memory, resulting in amygdala activity. Finally, the ensemble of activity is experienced in consciousness (possibly at a later time) as a state of fear. If this pattern of responding resembles the classic fear prototype, the emergent variable model suggests it is elements of the situation, not a latent executive affect program in the brain, that determine their coactivation. One might fear bears and see one in the zoo, causing the brain to create a subjective experience that one might call fear, as well as salience tagging by the amygdala, but relatively little or no ANS arousal or avoidance behavior. The emergent variable model suggests this would simply be because the situation does not call for those problems to be solved, whereas latent variable models must posit some continuum of fear-circuit activity that would be, one presumes, on something like "low alert" at the zoo, and "high alert" in the wilderness.

What do emergent theories say about possible benefits of coherence? On the whole, they do not expect coherence to be beneficial, because if emotions generally do not involve coherence, it makes less sense to assume coherence serves a function. Overall, then, emergent theories predict little or no coherence and few if any benefits of coherence. However, as we discuss next, on closer view these theories also allow for nuance.

#### **1.3 Integration: Implications of the latent and emergent views for coherence**

At an initial glance, the two types of emotion theories lead to starkly different predictions: The latent view predicts substantial, all-or-none, and invariant coherence that is generally beneficial, whereas the emergent view predicts no or minimal coherence and no benefits. At second glance, however, qualifications to both kinds of emotion theories allow us to reconcile their implications for coherence and its benefits.

Starting with latent views, they do not necessarily predict that responses perfectly and always cohere. In other words, they do not necessarily presume an all-or-none, invariant principle, such that one mechanism (or central organizing module) coordinates all aspects of emotion to the same degree, equally in all people, and across all situations. After all, such an inflexible organization makes little sense from a biological-evolutionary perspective (Davidson, 1992; Tooby & Cosmides, 2008). For example, in discussing coherence between behavior and physiological responses, Ekman (1992) indicates several qualifications (Ekman, 1992, pp. 184-185, Ekman's emphasis): "I propose that when we examine individuals who have not chronically or at the moment tried to inhibit their feelings or expression, we will find that there is *some* coherence, some systematic relationship (...) during emotional events (...). I am positing that the autonomic responses and expressive changes are not, by nature, disconnected, although there will be large individual differences, some constitutional and some based on social learning." We see that once we go beyond the simple core of the latent view, it does not necessarily presume an all-or-none principle but rather that coherence is imperfect and varies across people and contexts.

Conversely, emergent views do not necessarily predict that responses are *always* and *completely* unrelated (see Mesquita et al., 2003). Rather, they allow for coherence to emerge under certain circumstances. First, certain environmental challenges ("events" in Fig. 2) may pull for and give rise to coherent responses (see De Houwer, 2011). To the extent that key challenges humans often encounter are patterned to evoke coherent responses, we can imagine that the emotions that *emerge* in these contexts would involve coherent responses. Take Coan's (2010) example of encountering a bear in the zoo as opposed to wilderness. A person might not feel fullblown fear but feel nervous when seeing that the fence to the bear enclosure is a bit flimsy, which might lead them to prepare to flee—with slightly elevated heart rate—should it become necessary.

More generally, our environments are not random but instead patterned in ways that can engender coherence. For example, situations in which we feel fear tend to cluster with situations in which we alert conspecifics to danger and also prepare to flee or freeze (rather than other behaviors). In other words, environments with recurrent challenges might lead to probabilistic coherence, in general and on average, because they pull for and give rise to coherent responses. Thus, researchers should find coherence as a function of the environment, not as a function of a central mechanism within the person. In this way, recurring environmental challenges might call for coordinated responses, and we can expect *emergent coherence*.

A second way in which emergent views allow for coherence is that they often assume *core affective dimensions*—that is, basic, biologically meaningful dimensions that may organize responses in a coherent matter (Barrett & Bliss-Moreau, 2009; Davidson, 1992; Lindquist, 2013; Panksepp, 2007). For example, we might find coherence along the "core affect" dimensions of valence or activation. Given that emotions vary systematically along these dimensions (e.g., fear is negative in valence and highly activating; Cowen & Keltner, 2021; Lang et al., 1993), this would then lead to coherence during emotions. For example, encountering a bear might not lead to fear per se but to a negative, highly-activating state involving coherent responses in experience, behavior, and physiology.

To sum up, qualifications to both latent and emergent views of emotion lead to converging predictions regarding coherence, which form the basis of an integrated view of coherence. First, on average we should not expect coherence to be completely absent or to be perfect. This idea is expressed in views of coherence that fall in the middle of the spectrum in Table 1. For example, several theorists have referred to emotions as involving "loosely coupled" response systems (Gross, 2015; Lang, 1988).

Second, we should expect differences across types of coherence depending on the response system (and within response system depending on the indicator) involved; some domains (e.g., those that share more features and that are psychologically more similar) should cohere more tightly than other domains (e.g., those that share fewer features and that are psychologically more dissimilar; Bradley et al., 2000; Lang, 1988). For example, we could expect experience and behavior to cohere more tightly than experience and physiology because the first two of these response systems are relatively more deliberative than most physiological responses (e.g., Evers et al. (2014)). Another way in which behavior and physiology differ is in terms of their visibility and, thus, also vary in their signal value to others, again implying coherence involving behavior would differ from coherence involving physiology.

Third, we should expect variation in coherence across people and contexts depending on the extent to which emotions are influenced by factors extraneous to the emotion. Certain types of emotion regulation, certain sociodemographic and individual differences, and certain situations might lead to variation in coherence to the extent that they modify select response systems. For example, display rules or expressive suppression might alter behavior but not experience (Ekman & Friesen, 1969; Gross & John, 2003; Gross et al., 2000), thus lowering experience-behavior coherence. As another example, "individual response stereotypy" (Lacey, 1967), or, individual differences in response profiles across different physiological subsystems (e.g., cardiovascular, electrodermal, respiratory, neuromuscular), could lead to lower experience-physiology coherence.

What does an integration of the two views say about functions of coherence? Even if we are agnostic about whether emotions are responses to latent causal mechanisms or emerge from properties of the environment, there are plausible reasons to think that coherence has benefits for people. For example, social-functional accounts argue that emotions serve the important functions of creating and maintaining social connection, influencing others, getting help from others, and coordinating interactions (Frijda et al., 1994; Keltner & Haidt, 1999; Niedenthal & Brauer, 2012). They build on the idea that emotions are private as well as social (e.g., Crivelli & Fridlund, 2019; Fenigstein et al., 1975; Zerwas et al., 2021). While emotions are private in that others do not have direct access to a person's internal emotional experiences, they are also social in that others can view, interpret, and respond to a person's emotional *displays*.

Emotions serve these crucial social functions better when they are successfully and accurately communicated to others, and greater coherence between experience and behavior constitutes successful communication. Thus socio-functional accounts—consistent with either latent or emergent views—lead to the prediction that coherence should carry benefits. As described by Barrett (2006, p. 49): "Many cultures may have similar basic-level emotion concepts, not because these categories have some biological priority, but because these concepts are optimal tools for communicating in the kind of social environment that humans typically occupy (living in large groups with complicated relational rules)."

Thus, coherence might have benefits, whether it arises as a response to a latent causal mechanism or to the structure of the environment. However, in this view, the benefits—just like coherence itself—are not an all-or-none consequence of coherence. When we see emotion coherence as flexible, variable, and embedded in particular contexts, it should have benefits as a function of particular constellations of coherence and context. For example, communication of emotion through experience-behavior coherence but not through experience-physiology coherence should have benefits in social contexts, and it should have these benefits via social pathways.

Thus, qualifications to the 'pure' latent and the 'pure' emergent view both lead to the prediction of some coherence some of the time. In the qualified latent view, coherence is a core postulate, with some (but not perfect) coherence being a necessary outcome of latent theories of emotion. For the qualified emergent view, coherence is a possible, even likely, outcome—but not a necessary one, and if it emerges, it is caused by structure in the environment (to which humans have adapted), rather than by an internal process located in the person. While coherence is a theoretical given in the latent case, and an empirical possibility in the emergent case, both views lead to the conclusion that we should find some coherence. Conversely, if we find coherence this does not *necessarily* imply that emotions have a causal, central mechanism. Although most theories that favor coherence have come from the biological-evolutionary, latent view and those who are skeptical of coherence have come from the socialconstructivist, emergent view, this mapping is not necessary.

In conclusion, we have proposed how the two major views of coherence can be reconciled with one another. The resulting integrated view of coherence is agnostic regarding the existence of a central causal mechanism. It predicts (a) response systems to cohere but only loosely so, (b) variation in coherence depending on the response system involved, (c) substantial individual and situational variation in coherence, and (d) some types of coherence to engender some benefits in some contexts. These ideas have crucial implications for understanding what emotions are, what functions they might serve, and how we can measure them. Before we turn to the empirical evidence regarding coherence, we discuss methodological considerations for how it can be studied.

# 2. Methodological considerations: How can emotion response system coherence be studied?

The investigation of coherence is fraught with conceptual and methodological issues (see Bonanno & Keltner, 2004; Butler et al., 2014; Hollenstein & Lanteigne, 2014; Levenson & Gottman, 1983; Levenson, 2014; Rosenberg & Ekman, 1994). These issues have obscured insights into coherence and its implications for affective science. Therefore, we next consider key methodological considerations both in designing new studies of coherence and in interpreting the results of existing studies.

In Table 2, we give an overview of these issues, each formulated as a question paired with a proposed answer that represents what we consider the currently best research practice. To help researchers in this area, we go into detail in the following section. Readers less interested in the full detail may want to review the questions and proposed answers in Table 2 and then proceed to the empirical review in Section 3.

## 2.1 Should coherence be measured with between-person or within-person approaches?

A first, fundamental consideration is whether coherence is conceptualized and measured at the *between-person* or the *within-person* level (Cacioppo et al., 1992; Levenson, 2014; Reisenzein et al., 2013). The between-person approach to measuring coherence is illustrated in Fig. 3, Panel A. For example, researchers have studied whether a person who experiences more emotion *relative to other people* also exhibits a greater behavioral response, again *relative to other people*. The alternative approach is to measure the strength of association between different response systems *within* a person and across time. This is illustrated in Fig. 3, Panel B. For example, a researcher might test whether a person shows greater behavioral responding in time periods when they experience greater emotion experience, relative to time periods when the same person experiences lower levels of emotion. Panel A of Fig. 4 shows relatively higher within-person coherence between two responses, whereas Panel B of Fig. 4 shows relatively lower within-person coherence.

Both approaches yield interesting insights and at first glance, they might appear to give similar kinds of information. However, as several researchers have noted, between-person approaches might not be well-suited for measuring coherence, for three key reasons (Levenson, 2014; Mauss et al., 2005; Reisenzein, 2000a; Ruch, 1995). First, between-person approaches

Methodological question	Answer with key reasons
2.1 Should coherence be measured with between-person or within-person approaches?	Within-person measures are better suited to measure coherence, for methodological and conceptual reasons. Among within-person measures, cross-correlations provide several advantages, including robustness to non-stationarity and accounting for varying lags.
2.2 Should coherence be measured with systemwide or pairwise approaches?	Pairwise approaches are preferred because they provide greater nuance and flexibility.
2.3 What experimental and research- design factors need to be considered?	Coherence can be studied in a number of contexts, driven by the particular questions asked. Laboratory experiments are often well-suited because they allow high control over the emotional context and comparison conditions.
2.3.1 In what emotional contexts should we measure coherence?	Emotional film clips are optimal for measuring coherence, because they induce a wide range of intense and dynamically changing emotions in a standardized way. However, other emotion inductions can be well suited, as long as they induce intense, prolonged, and variable emotion.
2.3.2 What comparisons are informative?	<ul> <li>Compare coherence to 0, to effect size metrics, or to random pairings: This tells us whether coherence is present according to different criteria.</li> <li>Compare coherence during emotions to coherence during neutral states: This tells us whether coherence is specific to emotion.</li> <li>Compare coherence is specific to emotion.</li> <li>Compare coherence during emotions to coherence during other affective states: This tells us whether coherence is specific to emotion.</li> <li>Compare coherence during more intense to coherence during less intense emotions: This tells us whether coherence increases with emotion intensity.</li> <li>Compare coherence indifferent ways of inducing emotions: This tells us whether coherence increases with emotion intensity.</li> <li>Compare coherence in different ways of inducing emotions. This tells us whether coherence is specific to particular ways of inducing emotions versus the emotion itself.</li> <li>Compare coherence in different contexts (e.g., social versus non-social): This tells us how context-dependent coherence is.</li> </ul>

Table 2 Overview of methodological questions in research on coherence, with proposed answers.

(continued)

Table 2         Overview of methodological question:           Methodological question         Performance	in research on coherence, with proposed answers. ( <i>cont'd</i> ) <b>Answer with key reasons</b>
2.4 Which response systems should we measure and how should we measure them?	In general, more is better: More systems, more indicators within each system, and more frequent assessment to capture dynamic changes in emotion. All measures should be obtained concurrently with one another and while a person is emotional.
2.4.1 Experience	Rating dial approaches are optimally suited to capture ongoing experience (e.g., intensity of valence, arousal, or discrete emotions).
2.4.2 Behavior	Different questions require different behaviors to be captured, and we should go beyond coding only facial movements to also capture other behaviors such as vocal and whole-body aspects.
2.4.3 Physiology	Different questions require different physiological responses from different organs (e.g., cardiovascular, electrodermal, respiratory) to be captured; some indicators are purer reflections of underlying ANS patterns (e.g., pre-ejection period for sympathetic activation, high-frequency heart rate variability for parasympathetic activation), but their temporal resolution is lower than e.g., heart rate or skin conductance.
2.5 Practical steps: How do we get from time series to coherence indices?	In the final steps, we consider what temporal resolution of measures to choose, how to deal with lags among measures, and how to select an index of coherence. A 1-second resolution and a lag window of $+/-10$ s are recommended, and the maximum cross-correlation is the best indicator of coherence.



Fig. 3 An illustration of the between-person approach (Panel A, left) and the within-person approach (Panel B, right) to coherence. Although the same data are presented in Panels A and B, taking the between-person approach (Panel A) we would find lower coherence, because at Timepoint 2 Person 1 is the highest in experience but the lowest in behavior. Taking the within-person approach (Panel B) we would find higher coherence on average because Person 1 increases in experience and behavior across the three time points and Persons 2 and 3 show a consistent increasedecrease pattern in both experience and behavior. Note. The red line in Panel B illustrates the within-person approach for Person 1.



**Fig. 4** Examples of higher coherence (Panel A, left) and lower coherence (Panel B, right) using the within-person approach. *Note.* Solid versus dotted lines indicate two different response systems (e.g., experience, behavior) over time during an emotion induction. The panel on the left indicates higher coherence, because the two response systems are more tightly linked across time; the panel on the right indicates lower coherence, because the two response systems are not as tightly linked across time.

are subject to between-person variance and confounds, which might obscure true coherence. Second, between-person approaches rely either on a single point in time or on averages over longer periods of time. When looking at Fig. 3, we can see that if we look at only one time point or averages across the three time points, we would lose important information about changes across time, and points of coherence versus dissociation would be missed (Kahneman, 2000). Third, between-person approaches essentially require participants to rate their experiences relative to other people or to other events, which might be difficult to do. Methodologically, thus, betweenperson approaches might not be optimal for capturing coherence.

The within-person approach is methodologically better suited to measure coherence, for three reasons. First, it avoids between-person variance and confounds. Second, it allows for more precise capturing (and a closer matching) of dynamic and fast changes in the response systems, as illustrated in Fig. 4. For example, a person whose emotion experience and behavioral expression align at the beginning and end of a stressful speech, when anxiety is highest, but less so during the middle of the speech, when anxiety is lower, would show greater within-person coherence because this approach tracks dynamic changes rather than averaging across the whole period. Honoring the time course of emotions unfolding in time, as within-person approaches do, allows us to capture coherence more completely. Such ratings might also be easier to complete because they provide participants with proximal and direct comparison points. Third, the within-person approach provides coherence measures for each individual person and thus allows one to model individual differences in coherence. As discussed above, the integrative strength of coherence, and within-person approaches can test these ideas. Indeed, research that has taken the between-person approach has been inconsistent. For example, using this approach in different kinds of emotion inductions researchers have found *experience-behavior* coherence ranging from small and negative (e.g., Johnson et al., 2010) to large and positive (e.g., Ruch, 1997) with many estimates falling in between (e.g., Gross et al., 2000; Herring et al., 2011; Lang et al., 1993; Mauss et al., 2004; Mehu et al., 2007; see, for a review, Reisenzein et al., 2013). Studies of *experience-physiology* coherence with this approach have similarly typically resulted in weak or nonexistent effects (Grossman et al., 2001; Hodgson & Rachman, 1974; Mandler et al., 1961; Mauss et al., 2003, 2004; Stemmler et al., 2001; see, for a review, Cacioppo et al., 2000).

In addition to methodological considerations, there are conceptual reasons to favor within-person approaches. Within-person associations more closely denote coherence as conceptualized by the theories of emotion outlined above, namely that emotions involve coherence of responses *relative to non-emotional states*. This phenomenon happens within a person and across different points in time (Cacioppo et al., 1992; Reisenzein et al., 2013; Stemmler, 1992). As has been shown by several researchers, between-person associations do not necessarily reflect within-person processes (Fisher et al., 2018; Molenaar & Campbell, 2009). Fig. 3 illustrates this idea for the case of coherence: We can see that the between-person approach depicted in Panel A would yield lower coherence while the within-person approach to the same data depicted in Panel B would yield higher coherence.

In sum, for methodological and conceptual reasons, within-person approaches are better suited for measuring coherence than between-person ones.

# 2.2 Should coherence be measured with pairwise approaches or for all three systems at once?

The second question to address is whether to measure coherence holistically and across more than two systems with multivariate approaches or on a pairwise basis. In other words, do we characterize coherence across experience, behavior, and physiology at once or separately for the three pairings of experience-behavior, experience-physiology, and behavior-physiology? Several multivariate approaches exist that measure within-person coherence for more than two variables. For example, researchers have used a network approach to characterize emotional coherence across 15 variables at once (Hsieh et al., 2011) and

Multidimensional Recurrence Quantification Analysis to quantify coherence in multivariate time-series data (Wallot et al., 2016).

While these approaches give insight into overall within-person coherence and its properties, they are not optimally suited to tease apart different types of coherence (e.g., experience-physiology versus experience-behavior). This is an important limitation, in that the integrative coherence view predicts that coherence is not an all-or-none process with uniform functions but rather that (a) different types of coherence differ from one another and (b) their functions vary depending on the response systems involved (Cacioppo et al., 1999; Evers et al. (2014); Keltner & Haidt, 1999; Levenson, 1999; Mauss et al., 2005; Rachman, 1978). So, for example, we can imagine that a person has high experience-physiology coherence but low experiencebehavior coherence, and that experience-physiology coherence has different functions from experience-behavior coherence. Pairwise measures have the advantage that they allow us to study these different types of coherence.

In terms of pairwise measures, several approaches are possible. Many researchers have used cross-correlations (e.g., Brown et al., 2020; Butler et al., 2014; Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013; Mauss et al., 2005; Saito et al., 2023; Sze et al., 2010). These correlations are computed between two time series at varying lags (e.g., Time Series 1 correlated with Time Series 2 at lag 0, 1, 2, and 3 s). Accounting for lags is important because some emotional responses react more slowly than others (for example, blood pressure reacts more slowly than facial behavior). If researchers did not account for lags, true but lagged coherence would be obscured. In addition, cross-correlations can handle time series data that are expected to be non-stationary, with mean and variance varying over time as people's emotional responses become more or less intense. Lastly, cross-correlations capture between-variable associations that occur due to shared mean, slope, variance, oscillations, or momentary fluctuations, and thus encompass a wide range of potential shared dynamics (Butler et al., 2014).

A related approach has used random-order presentation of short emotional film clips and averaging of responses to each film to calculate a within-subject nonparametric correlation index for each pair of variables (Rattel et al., 2020). This analytic approach is preferred when data cannot be collected with a high enough temporal resolution such as in this case, where experience ratings were obtained at the end of each film.

In sum, it is important for conceptual reasons to measure pairwise coherence, and, while multiple approaches are feasible, cross-correlations provide an overall accurate and productive approach for doing so.

## 2.3 What experimental and research-design factors need to be considered?

A third methodological set of considerations is in what experimental contexts to measure coherence as well as, just as important, what comparison conditions to include.

#### 2.3.1 In what emotional contexts should we measure coherence?

Most basically, measuring coherence during emotions requires that an emotional state has been induced. The induced emotion has to be sufficiently intense in order to find coherence among response systems (see Davidson, 1992; Levenson, 2014; Rosenberg & Ekman, 1994). This requires, at minimum, that participants have a 'real' emotional experience rather than the recognition that a stimulus represents an emotion. A related consideration is about the type of emotion induced. For example, surprise might show less coherence involving physiological responses than other emotions because surprise has a more pronounced cognitive element (e.g., Reisenzein et al., 2000b) than other emotions (e.g., fear). Similarly, contentment might show less coherence involving behavior than other emotions because contentment does not have a salient behavioral signature compared to other emotions (e.g., amusement). In addition, to measure within-person coherence of emotional responses, an emotion induction needs to last long enough to observe *changes* in responses that can covary across response systems. Further, it should ideally involve a range of intensities or emotional states because lack of variability across time would constrain correlations.

Several approaches can be used to induce such states, including emotional film clips, emotional recall, script-driven imagery, multiple emotional pictures, virtual-reality paradigms, music, and specific tasks that elicit emotions, such as the Trier Social Stress Task (Coan & Allen, 2007). Each has advantages and disadvantages. On balance, emotional film clips present several advantages when it comes to examining coherence (Fernández-Aguilar et al., 2019; Gross & Levenson, 1995; Rottenberg et al., 2007). First, libraries of validated film clips are available that reliably and ethically induce moderate to high levels of a range of emotions, including amusement, joy, contentment, affection, awe, pride, sadness, anxiety, and disgust (Samson et al., 2016). Film clips can be used in laboratory and nonlaboratory contexts that allow researchers to measure multiple emotional response systems. Because films naturally unfold over time, they also allow for standardization of moment-by-moment emotional context across participants. Films uniquely allow for dynamic changes in emotional states over time, ranging from neutral to more intense emotional states, as their narrative unfolds, even within the span of a few minutes.

An interesting novel approach has examined spontaneous emotional episodes during a four-week period in daily life using ecological momentary assessment, including experience sampling and psychophysiological measurement (Van Doren et al., 2021). Although the lack of experimental control has some disadvantages, this kind of approach complements laboratory approaches by testing generalizability to ecologically valid contexts (Hofmann & Grigoryan, 2023).

#### 2.3.2 What comparisons are informative?

In addition to the context itself in which we measure coherence, we must ask about what we compare the context to. These comparison conditions are just as important as the target context in determining what we can learn about coherence. Several comparisons are interesting. First, we need to think about our criterion for establishing whether a particular cross-correlation indicates coherence. Imagine we find a cross-correlation of .22. How do we decide whether this means there is coherence? A first approach is to conduct a nullhypothesis significance test to compare .22 to 0, testing whether coherence is greater than chance. To gain more nuanced information, and to deal with short-falls of null-hypothesis significance testing, we can consider effect sizes, which in this example would indicate we have a medium effect size (Funder & Ozer, 2020), indicating some coherence. Last, and more stringently, we could compare the cross-correlation we obtain to a cross-correlation of random pairs of signals (across random pairs of participants rather than within the same participant). This comparison tells us whether within-person coherence is greater than coherence that is driven by the stimulus context.

Second, to establish whether coherence characterizes specifically emotional versus neutral states, we could compare coherence during emotional states to coherence during neutral states. This of course raises the difficulty of establishing and inducing a truly neutral state. Ultimately, it may be impossible to induce a truly neutral state that is neither unpleasant (e.g., boring) nor pleasant (e.g., amusing, interesting); thus, states that are less emotional may represent the best comparison condition, as we consider in the next point.

Third, examining gradations within emotional states and to test the idea that coherence becomes stronger the more intense an emotion is, we could compare coherence during more intense emotions to coherence during less intense emotions. Fourth, to test whether coherence specifically characterizes emotional states, we could compare coherence during emotions to coherence during other motivational and physiological states, such as hunger, fatigue, or cognitive effort (see Clore et al., 1987). Fifth, to test whether coherence is a feature of the way in which we induced the emotion versus the emotion itself (see Stemmler, 1992), we could induce the same emotion in different ways (e.g., recall and film clips). Last, to examine boundary conditions and functions of coherence, we could compare various contexts. For example, ideas about the communicative function of experience-behavior coherence could be tested by comparing coherence in the presence of other people to coherence when alone. Or ideas about the active coping function of experience-physiology coherence could be tested by comparing coherence during active coping (e.g., when a threat can be avoided).

In sum, coherence is best measured in intense, standardized emotion inductions that involve varied emotion intensity levels. To allow for nuanced insights regarding the when and how of coherence, research on coherence should include several different emotional states or states that allow for interesting, conceptually motivated comparisons (e.g., emotional to non-emotional states, more emotional to less emotional states, social to non-social contexts).

## 2.4 Which response systems should we measure and how can we measure them?

Given the coherence postulate is concerned with coherence among emotional responses, we need to measure multiple emotional responses during our emotion inductions. The fourth set of methodological considerations concerns which ones and how we can best measure them. At the most basic level, we should measure as many systems as possible, as precisely as possible, and as validly as possible, as guided by our hypotheses.

In addition, three principles emerge from the fact that emotions are dynamic and fast-changing states (Kuppens & Verduyn, 2017). First, to capture emotional responses *during* emotional states, measures should be obtained *online*—that is, while a person is in the emotional state, rather than afterwards when responses have faded away. Second, to account for the fact that emotional states change dynamically and quickly, measures should be obtained with a high sampling rate, *moment-by-moment*. And third, to match measures across response systems, different measures should be assessed *concurrently* (rather than at different times). Thus, as a general guide, more is better: We should, if feasible, assess as many systems as possible, with as many indicators within each system as possible, and do so as frequently and simultaneously as possible. Next, we review how to measure emotion response systems focusing on systems that are most relevant to research on coherence, namely experience, behavior, and autonomic physiology. We focus our discussion on measurement questions that are most pertinent to research on coherence because other reviews provide more general guidance (Bradley et al., 2000; Coan & Allen, 2007; Ekman & Friesen, 1978; Mauss & Robinson, 2009; Mendes & Beer, 2009; Mendes, 2016). A consideration that cuts across response systems is how well measures are matched to one another and the emotion under investigation. Failure to sample all three response systems—experiential, behavioral, and physiological—well and failure to select one's measures of emotional responding carefully within response systems limit the conclusions that can be drawn from a study.

#### 2.4.1 Experience

When measuring emotion experience, researchers have often relied on *retrospective* (rather than *online*) ratings and on *aggregated* (rather than *moment-by-moment*) ratings. For example, one could ask participants: "How much amusement did you feel during the 3-min emotional film clip you just watched?" Such retrospective ratings make sense for many research questions. However, assessing experience ratings *after* the emotional event, even if it is right after the event, might lead to measurement error due to processes such as memory biases or defensive mechanisms (Barrett, 1997; Kahneman, 2000; Rosenberg & Ekman, 1994), which could cloud assessment of coherence. In addition, as discussed above, ideally measures are sampled during the emotion, concurrently with one another, and with a high time resolution.

One way to address these issues is to assess emotional experience *moment-by-moment* using a rating dial method introduced and validated by Levenson and Gottman (1983); see also (Gottman & Levenson, 1985; Ruef & Levenson, 2007). In this method, participants use a dial or a slider to indicate each moment how much of a particular emotion they experience. Compared to the more traditional method of obtaining retrospective whole-task emotion ratings at a single point in time, this method ensures that emotion experience can be measured during the emotion induction, concurrently with other measures (e.g., physiology, behavior) and with a high sampling rate. Moreover, it minimizes measurement error due to memory biases or aggregation across mixed emotional periods.

This method has two potential downsides. First, participants can only provide one rating at a time (e.g., how pleasant do you feel right now?). This concern can be mitigated in three ways. If film clips are used to induce emotion, participants can view clips multiple times, providing a different rating each time (see Mauss et al., 2005). Two-dimensional grids or multiple sliders like on a multi-channel audio mixer (allowing participants to rate multiple dimensions such as valence and arousal at the same time) can be used as well (Russell et al., 1989). Last, the rating dial approach can be supplemented with retrospective ratings of multiple emotions to have the best of both worlds.

A second concern is that using a rating dial might disrupt the very emotional process one is attempting to study. This concern can be mitigated in two ways. First, a brief practice period before using the dial has been shown to be effective for allowing participants to use the dial without too much mental effort. We confirmed this by comparing physiological and behavioral indices of emotion of participants who used a dial to participants who did not use a dial. On both indices, we found no or weak group differences, indicating that emotional reactivity is not or only weakly affected by using the dial (Mauss et al., 2005). Another way to address this concern is to employ cued-recall video (Gottman & Levenson, 1985; Rosenberg & Ekman, 1994). In this approach, participants are videotaped while they give a stressful speech or have an emotionally evocative interaction, tasks that do not allow them to concurrently use the rating dial. They can then watch the videotape while they rate their experience during the task using a rating dial.

#### 2.4.2 Behavior

Measures of behavioral emotional responses can include those focused on the face, the voice, or the whole body. For each of these channels, we can obtain 'naïve' cultural informants' global impressions, trained coders' global ratings or more specific muscle movements (e.g., the Facial Action Coding System, FACS) (Ekman & Friesen, 1978), automated algorithms (Girard et al., 2015; Martinez, 2017), electromyography (EMG; e.g. of the corrugator supercilii muscle responsible for furrowed brows; see Bradley et al., 2000; Cacioppo et al., 2000; Mauss & Robinson, 2009), or head magnetomyography (Barchiesi et al., 2020). Unless automated or physiological measures such as EMG are used, challenges similar to those for experience are faced when we want to obtain moment-by-moment measures. In these cases, rating-dial approaches similar to the self-reports discussed for experience can be used, except that the coders rate the behaviors they observe moment by moment using a rating dial (Mauss et al., 2005, 2011).

Two concerns with assessing behavior are particular to the study of coherence, both of which have to do with researchers' unchallenged assumptions about emotional responses. One such concern is indicated by the term "expression," which indicates that some facial movements are assumed to be *expressions* of particular inner emotional states (Barrett et al., 2019; Crivelli & Fridlund, 2019). This assumption can lead us astray as illustrated by a study that investigated the emotion of joy and found surprisingly low correlations between feelings of joy on the one hand and laughter on the other hand (laughter: r = .14; smiles: r = .24; n = 31; Bonanno & Keltner, 2004). Yet, laughter may reflect joy but also amusement, embarrassment, or relief from a negative emotion, and thus might not be the most appropriate behavioral index of joy. Thus, in choosing behavioral measures, we need to think carefully about what each measure might mean and question our assumptions.

Second, the vast majority of research on coherence has focused on facial movements versus the voice or body movements (Hertenstein et al., 2006; Matsumoto et al., 2008; Mauss & Robinson, 2009). This might again have to do with Western ideas about how emotions are expressed, or with pragmatics of what we can measure relatively easily. Yet, this focus might have obscured coherence, especially for emotions that are primarily expressed in vocal patterns (e.g., sadness) or bodily movements (e.g., pride) (Keltner et al., 2019; Tracy & Robins, 2004).

#### 2.4.3 Physiology

The most commonly used measures of physiological responses in research on coherence are autonomic nervous system (ANS) responses. Far less research has involved other types of physiological responses such as central nervous system (CNS) or endocrine responses. This is because CNS responses can be seen to instantiate emotions (rather than representing a response system). Endocrine responses generally are slower (e.g., salivary cortisol has about at least a 5–minute lag; Kirschbaum et al., 1993), and thus are not studied to capture faster dynamics of emotional responses. Yet other responses are very difficult to measure (e.g., the sensation of "knots" in one's stomach). Lastly, the ANS is intuitively highly relevant to questions of coherence as physiological responses are *felt* to covary with emotional experiences (James, 1884).

The ANS is a general-purpose system responsible for modulating peripheral functions (Öhman et al., 2000). It consists of sympathetic and parasympathetic branches, which are generally but not always associated with organismic activation and relaxation (including digestive and restorative functions), respectively. Physiological signals are typically recorded continuously at high sampling rates (e.g., 1000 Hz for electrodermal activity and

87

ECG), and can thus be analyzed with a relatively high effective resolution (e.g., 10 Hz for skin conductance level and 1 Hz for heart rate).<sup>4</sup> Thus, they are ideally suited for moment-by-moment coherence analyses. The most commonly assessed indices of ANS activation are based on electrodermal (i.e., sweat gland) or cardiovascular (i.e., blood circulatory system) responses. Electrodermal responding is typically quantified in terms of skin conductance level (SCL) or short-duration skin conductance responses (SCRs). Cardiovascular measures include heart rate (HR), blood pressure (BP), total peripheral resistance (TPR), cardiac output (CO), pre-ejection period (PEP), finger pulse time and amplitude (FPT and FPA), and heart rate variability (HRV) (Cacioppo et al., 2000; Kreibig, 2010; Levenson, 2003, 2014; Mauss & Robinson, 2009; Mendes & Beer, 2009; Mendes, 2016). Each of these measures varies in terms of whether it primarily reflects sympathetic activity, parasympathetic activity, or both. For example, SCL and PEP predominantly reflect sympathetic activity, HR and BP reflect a combination of sympathetic and parasympathetic activity, and HRV related to respiratory cycle (highfrequency HRV) has been linked to parasympathetic activity (Berntson et al., 1997, 2007; Mendes & Beer, 2009; Mendes, 2016).

Given there are so many different measures with different features, one question faced by researchers is whether to use individual measures such as heart rate versus composites such as cardiovascular activation (e.g., a composite of heart rate, finger pulse transit time, finger pulse amplitude, and mean arterial pressure). There are two competing considerations. On the one hand, the more fully we capture a system, the more comprehensive and reliable a measure may be. On the other hand, there is response fractionation (e.g., Lacey, 1967) whereby measures of different autonomic subsystems (e.g., cardiovascular, electrodermal) may move in different directions. This means that if we use a composite, this might obscure evidence for coherence that we would find for individual measures. Thus, on balance it appears that individual measures might have an advantage over composites.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An important point to consider for coherence analysis is that the effective temporal resolution of some measures is reduced due to physiological and computational constraints. While SCL can be computed for every millisecond (although all meaningful information is probably captured with a sample rate of 10 Hz), HR provides an updated value with each heartbeat about every second, and PEP typically requires an averaging over several seconds to overcome noise in the impedance cardiography signal. Further, high-frequency HRV only provides an updated measure with each respiratory cycle about every 3–5 s. Variables with low effective resolution might be upsampled using cubic spline interpolation to allow for coherence analysis with the other variables.

In addition, whenever possible, we should obtain multiple ANS measures to capture multiple ANS subsystems. For example, one could sample heart rate (indexing general psychophysiological arousal, driven by sympathetic and parasympathetic activity), skin conductance level and pre-ejection period (indexing electrodermal and cardiac sympathetic activity, respectively), and high-frequency heart rate variability (indexing parasympathetic activity).

Next, we turn to how we get from time series of individual responses (e.g., a continuous three-minute recording of positive experience along with corrugator supercilii activity and heart rate) to pairwise indices of coherence using cross-correlations.

## 2.5 Practical steps: how do we get from time series to coherence indices?

In this last section on methodological considerations, we give practical, stepby-step guidance on the steps required once time-series data have been obtained for multiple emotional responses. How do we get from these time series to pairwise indices of coherence? As discussed above, cross-correlations present an appropriate way of doing so, and so we use them to illustrate the remaining steps. The steps involved in using cross-correlations to measure coherence are outlined in Fig. 5. In Step 1, time series are obtained for each measure and for each participant. In Step 2, cross-correlations are calculated for each pair of measures and for each participant. In Step 3, one cross-



**Fig. 5** Steps to Calculate Coherence Using Cross-Correlations. *Note.* The solid line indicates Measure A (for example, emotional experience) and the dashed line indicates Measure B (for example, a physiological response). The ellipses (...) indicate that the same procedures are conducted for each participant in a dataset.

correlation is selected as the index of a person's coherence for two measures. These can then be averaged to obtain estimates of coherence across people.

The first decision point concerns Step 1: How frequently should we sample each signal, that is, what should the temporal resolution of the time series be? Given emotions can, in principle, change frequently and dynamically, this is an important question. Several studies on within-person coherence assume that the "best" timing resolution for each response system is second-by-second (vs. every 2 s, 5 s, etc.). This assumption is understandable because theories of emotion often suggest that emotional episodes are brief, typically lasting only one to ten seconds (Ekman, 1992; Levenson, 1994, 2003). Yet, although second-by-second ratings might be appropriate for measuring changes in more immediate responses (i.e., emotion experience), it is possible that this level of granularity does not add information when we examine coherence with less immediate responses (i.e., physiology).

A recent study (Zerwas et al., 2023) empirically tested this assumption. It did so by obtaining four coherence indices for a 5-minute film clip: Experience—behavior, experience—inter-beat interval (inversely related to heart rate), experience—skin conductance level, and experience—heart rate variability. Each coherence index was obtained for measures sampled with a resolution of 1, 2, 5, 10, and 15 s Table 3 shows the resulting coherence indices as well as whether they differ from indices obtained for the 1-second resolution.

(sample size)					
	1-s	2-s	5-s	10-s	15-s
Experience-behavior (100)	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.40	0.40
Experience-physiology					
Experience-inter-beat interval (115)	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	-0.08	-0.09
Experience-skin conductance level (104)	0.40	0.39	0.41	0.42	0.45
Experience-heart rate variability (117)	-0.04	-0.05	-0.05	-0.08	-0.04

 Table 3 Coherence estimates using different temporal resolutions.

 Type of coherence
 Timing resolution

*Note.* Bolded values indicate the estimate for that temporal resolution is significantly different from the estimate for the standard 1-second temporal resolution. Sample sizes are denoted in parentheses. Heart rate variability in the high-frequency band (0.15–0.50 Hz) as a measure of parasympathetic activity was estimated up to 1-second resolution using complex demodulation (Wilhelm et al., 2005).

For experience-behavior, the 10-second resolution was significantly lower in coherence than the 1-second resolution. We see comparable levels of coherence for the 1-, 2-, and 5-second resolutions, but the 10-second resolution seems too coarse to capture the full extent of coherence. For coherence involving the three physiology measures, the different resolutions did not differ much from one another. For experience-skin conductance level, the 15second resolution coherence was significantly higher than the 1-second resolution, and for experience—heart rate variability, the 10-second resolution coherence was significantly higher than the 1-second resolution. Thus, not much information is lost for coherence estimates when going from a 1-second to a 10- or 15-second resolution. Coherence estimates even appear to become somewhat higher, which may reflect that these physiological measures respond more slowly or that averaging across time can make physiology measures more reliable. Despite these minor differences between different resolutions, it did not appear that meaningful information is gained or lost by adjusting the temporal resolution. On the whole, the 1-second resolution appears to be the best approach, given (a) there was not strong evidence to utilize another timing resolution, (b) it allows researchers to be consistent across different indices of coherence, (c) it provides the most nuanced information, and (d) it is consistent with previous research. We note that many researchers recommend using a 3-s moving average to smooth the signal, given that sharp changes from one second to the next are typically noise rather than signal.

The next decision concerns Step 2, calculating lagged correlations for pairs of responses (Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013; Mauss et al., 2005, 2011; Sze et al., 2010). Lags account for the possibility that emotion response systems do not instantaneously cohere. For example, emotional behavior might most strongly cohere with emotional experience with a lag of a few seconds because it follows experience in time. For cross-correlations, we need to decide what window of lags we consider looking for coherence. Existing work typically utilizes a -10 to +10-second lag window (i.e., one signal leads and trails the other signal up to 10 s), because it maps onto theory about the duration of emotional episodes typically lasting 1-10s (Ekman, 1992; Levenson, 1994, 2003) and accounts for the slower response time of some physiological measures such as peripheral temperature or skin conductance (Bach et al., 2010). Other work has relied on a more data-driven approach, which involves investigating whether there is evidence of semi-regular oscillations in any of the response systems, and if so with what period; choosing a lagwindow that is equal to the period of the semi-regular oscillations reduces the risk of confounds due to oscillatory processes (Butler et al., 2014).

Given the heavy reliance on theory and the use of inconsistent approaches in choosing a lag window, Zerwas et al. (2023) empirically compared coherence estimates obtained considering 1-, 2-, 5-, 10-, and 15-second lag windows, using the same time-series data as results in Table 4, with a temporal resolution of 1 s Table 4 shows the coherence indices for each lag window as well as whether they differ from indices obtained for the 10-second lag window. We used this window as the criterion as it has been the most frequently used.

Some of the narrow lag windows for experience—behavior and for experience—skin conductance level significantly reduced coherence compared to the 10-second lag window. For experience—inter-beat interval and experience—heart rate variability, none of the lag windows differed significantly from the 10-second lag window. In sum, the standard 10-second lag window appears to be a good choice, at least for the commonly used measures examined by Zerwas et al. (2023).

Last, we must decide in Step 3 which correlation to use as our index of coherence because cross-correlations computed at different lag times result in *multiple* coherence estimates for each person and because we do not know the true lag between different response systems. For example, using a lag window of -10 to +10 s, for each pair of measures we get 21 correlations, one correlation for each lag. Which one should we select? We have five options. For each participant, we could use (a) the average of the 21 correlations, (b) the most positive of the 21 correlations, (c) the most negative of the 21 correlations, neglecting

Type of coherence (sample size)			Lag windo	w	
	10-s	1-s	2-s	5-s	15-s
Experience-behavior (100)	0.47	0.41	0.43	0.45	0.48
Experience-physiology					
Experience-inter-beat interval (115)	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	-0.06	-0.04
Experience-skin conductance level (104)	0.40	0.37	0.37	0.38	0.42
Experience-heart rate variability (117)	-0.04	-0.03	-0.04	-0.04	-0.05

 Table 4 Coherence estimates using different lag windows.

 Type of coherence
 Lag windows.

*Note.* Bolded values indicate the estimate for that lag window is significantly different from the estimate for the standard 10-s lag window. Sample sizes are denoted in parentheses.

its sign for subsequent statistical analyses (i.e., using its absolute value), or (e) the largest (in absolute terms) of the 21 correlations, retaining its sign for subsequent statistical analyses. In the latter four cases, the logic is that the largest value indicates a signal. Using the average (Option a) is not optimal because it obscures coherence, especially of swift emotional responses. Using the most positive or the most negative correlation (Options b and c) is generally not indicated, in our opinion, because it assumes a priori that two responses are associated in a particular direction. Using the absolute value (Option d) has the advantage that it is agnostic about direction of associations (for example, amusement could be associated with greater or lower heart rate). However, it only provides information about how strongly two measures are associated with one another, not whether two measures are positively or negatively associated with one another. In cases where information about directionality is of interest, Option e provides the most information about the nature of coherence while making the fewest assumptions. For example, it allows researchers to distinguish in-phase (signals move in the same direction) from anti-phase (signals move in opposite directions) responses (Chen et al., 2021). We note generally the cross-correlation approach is ideographic in that each pair of measures and each person can be based on a different lag.

In sum, when constructing coherence indices from cross-correlations, the currently best approach is to use a resolution of 1 s for time series, a lag window of -10 to +10 s for cross-correlations, and to use the largest cross-correlation for each pairing as the person's coherence indicator (Options d or e).

# 3. What do we know about coherence among response systems and the benefits of coherence?

What does empirical research tell us about the nature and functions of emotion coherence? As we described above (and as summarized in Table 2), the most relevant and informative studies are those that (a) used withinperson measures of coherence, (b) measured coherence during dynamic stimuli such as film clips, (c) present pairwise coherence measures, and (d) used a second-by-second temporal resolution for these measures. In addition, we required a sample size of at least 50, typically allowing detection of medium effect sizes with 80% statistical power (Funder & Ozer, 2020). We found nine studies that fulfilled these methodological criteria and measured experience-behavior coherence or experience-physiology coherence or both. These studies are all summarized in Table 5 below. For the third

sures of emotic	on responses, and	accounting for	lags.		
Study	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence and Lag Window	Results
Mauss et al., 2005	59 US students 100% female Mage = 19 7% Af-Am 40% As-Am 22% Eu-Am 32% L-Am	<b>One</b> film clip with 3 scenes (amusing, sad, amusing)	Experience: Rating dial (neutral to amusement and neutral to sadness) Behavior: Trained coders, rating dial (neutral to amusement and neutral to sadness) Physiology: Cardio composite (HR, FPTT (R), FPA (R), and EPTT (R)) and SCL	Highest cross- correlation, retaining sign +/- 10 s lag	<ul> <li>Experience-behavior coherence:</li> <li>E-Amuse-B-Amuse: 73** (SD: .38, range: NA)</li> <li>E-Sad-B-Sad: .74** (SD: .38, range: NA)</li> <li>Average experience-behavior coherence: .74 (SD: .38)</li> <li>Experience-physiology coherence:</li> <li>E-Amuse-P-Cardio: .22*** (SD: .38, range: NA)</li> <li>E-Amuse-P-Cardio: .22*** (SD: .38, range: NA)</li> <li>E-Amuse-P-Cardio: .00 (SD: .46, range: NA)</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL: .39*** (SD: .61, range: NA)</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:39*** (SD: .61, range: NA)</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:39***</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:39***</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:39***</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:39***</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:59***</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:59****</li> <li>E-Sad-P-SCL:</li></ul>

Table 5 Studies that used methods optimal for examining emotion coherence: within-person approaches, dynamic stimuli, continuous mea-

(continued)
emotion respo	is that used meth- inses, and accour-	ous optimal for ex iting for lags. ( <i>cor</i>	amining emotion conerer it'd)	nce: wirnin-person	approaches, gynamic stimuli, continuous measures or
Study	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence and Lag Window	Results
Sze et al., 2010	<ul> <li>63 US adults</li> <li>63% female</li> <li>63% female</li> <li>37% male</li> <li>Mage = 28</li> <li>2% Af-Am</li> <li>13% As-Am</li> <li>78% Eu-Am</li> <li>3%, L-Am</li> <li>5% Other</li> </ul>	Four film clips (amusing, disgusting, sad, and disturbing scenes)	<b>Experience:</b> Rating dial (negative to positive) <b>Behavior:</b> NA <b>Physiology:</b> IBI	Absolute value of the highest cross- correlation +/- 10 s lag	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> NA <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> Average across all films and groups: E-Valence—P-IBI: .33 <sup>s</sup> (SD: .16, range = NA) <b>Group/Individ differences:</b> Body awareness training: E-Valence—P-IBI in Meditators > Dancers > Controls <b>Associations with well-being:</b> NA
Mauss et al., 2011	125 US students 47% female 53% male Mage = 21 2% Af-Am 30% As-Am 43% Eu-Am 9% L-Am 11% Multiple ethnic backgrounds 5% Other or missing	<b>One</b> of three possible amusing film clips	Experience: Rating dial (neutral to amusement) Behavior: Trained coders, rating dial (neutral to amusement) Physiology: NA	Highest cross- correlation, retaining sign +/- 10 s lag	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> E-Amuse—B-Amuse: .68** ( <i>SD</i> : .34, range:36 to .92) <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> NA <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> Gender: No differences Ethnicity: No differences <b>Associations with well-being:</b> Depresive symptoms 6 months later: <i>r</i> :25** (change:18*) Satisfaction with life 6 months later: <i>r</i> 22** (change: .23**)

<ul> <li>Experience-behavior coherence: Average across conditions: E-Valence—B-Pos: .12<sup>X</sup> (<i>SD</i>: .10, range: NA) Valence—B-Neg:13<sup>X</sup> (<i>SD</i>: .15, range: NA) Average experience-behavior coherence: .13 (<i>SD</i>13) Experience-physiology coherence: .13 (<i>SD</i>13) Experience-physiology coherence: .13 (<i>SD</i>13) Evalence—P-LBI:08<sup>X</sup> (<i>SD</i>: .14, range: NA) B-Valence—P-LBI:08<sup>X</sup> (<i>SD</i>: .14, range: NA)</li> <li>I: E-Valence—P-LBI:08<sup>X</sup> (<i>SD</i>: .14, range: NA)</li> <li>I: E-Valence—P-MAP: .13<sup>X</sup> (<i>SD</i>: .16, range: NA)</li> <li>I: E-Valence—B-Neg in control &gt; instructed reappraisal and control) &gt; instructed reappraisal and E-Valence—B-Pos in control &gt; instructed reappraisal and E-Valence—B-Pos in control &gt; instructed reappraisal and reappraisal</li> <li>I: E-Valence—B-Pos in control &gt; instructed reappraisal and E-Valence—B-Pos in control &gt; instructed reappraisal and reappraisal</li> </ul>
Most positive cross-correlation E-Valence— B-Pos,  E- Valence — P-SCL,  E-Valence — P-MAP Most negative cross-correlation E-Valence—B- Neg,  E- Valence — P-IBI +/- 10 s for IBI +/- 10 s for all other variables
<b>Experience:</b> Rating dial (negative to positive) <b>Behavior:</b> Trained coders, rating dial (separate ratings for neutral to positive and neutral to negative) <b>Physiology:</b> IBI, SCL, and MAP
<b>One</b> discussion of a negative film clip with stranger
186 US students 100% female Mage = 20 3% Af-Am 36%, As-Am 44% Eu-Am 13% other 13% other
Butler et al., 2014

(continued)

emotion respon	ises, and account	ting for lags. (cor	it'd)	-	
Study	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence and Lag Window	Results
Lohani et al., 2018	60 younger and 60 older US adults 64% female 36% male Mage (younger)=20 Mage(older) =71 No ethnicity reported	<b>One</b> sad film clip	Experience: Rating dial (no sadness to extreme sadness) Behavior: Facial EMG (corrugator) Physiology: IBI	Absolute value of the highest cross- correlation +/-10 s lag	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> E-Sad—B-Corr: .43** ( <i>SD</i> : 0.21, range: NA) <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> E-Sad—P-IBI: .43** ( <i>SD</i> : 16, range: NA) <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> Age: E-Sad—P-IBI in older > younger Condition (instructed suppression, instructed acceptance, control): No differences: Max intensity of experience: No effect <b>Associations with well-being:</b> NA
Brown et al., 2020	<ul> <li>63 US adults</li> <li>63% female</li> <li>63% female</li> <li>37% male</li> <li>Mage = 28</li> <li>2% Af-Am</li> <li>13% As-Am</li> <li>78% Eu-Am</li> <li>3%, L-Am</li> <li>5% Other</li> </ul>	Four film clips (amusing, disgusting, sad, and disturbing scenes)	<b>Experience:</b> Rating dial (negative to positive) <b>Behavior:</b> NA <b>Physiology:</b> SCL, EPTT (R), FPA (R), FPTT (R), FPA (R), SBP, DBP, MAP)	Absolute value of the highest cross- correlation +/- 10 s lag	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> NA <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> E-ValenceP-Composite: .37** (SD: .11, range: .17 to .60) <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> NA <b>Associations with well-being:</b> Cross-sectional well-being composite: $\beta = .30*$

Table 5 Studies that used methods optimal for examining emotion coherence: within-person approaches, dynamic stimuli, continuous measures of

<ul> <li>Experience-behavior coherence:</li> <li>Film clip: E-Valence—B-Valence: .49* (SD: .46, range:72 to .92)</li> <li>Speech task: E-Valence—B-Valence: .17* (SD: .40, range: .67 to .84)</li> <li>Average experience-behavior coherence:</li> <li>Film clip: E-Valence—P-IBI:06 (SD: .40, range:80)</li> <li>to .70)</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IBI:06 (SD: .40, range:50 to .70)</li> <li>Speech task: E-Valence—P-IBI:12* (SD: .55, range:94, to .93)</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IBI:12* (SD: .55, range:94, to .93)</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IBI:01 (SD: .61, range:95 to .99)</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IBI:01 (SD: .61, range:95 to .99)</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IBI:01 (SD: .61, range:68 to .75)</li> <li>Average experience-physiology coherence: .12 (SD: .45)</li> <li>Group/Individual differences: NA</li> <li>Associations with well-being:</li> <li>Psychological well-being 6 months later: Film clip:</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IRV: r07</li> <li>Speech task: E-Valence—B: r27*, E-Valence—P-IBI: r02, E-Valence—P-IRV: r. 05</li> <li>E-Valence—P-IRV: r. 05</li> <li>Speech task: E-Valence—B: r27*, E-Valence—P-SCL: r11, E-Valence—P-IRV: r. 05</li> </ul>	(continued)
Highest cross- correlation, retaining sign +/- 10 s lag	
<b>Experience:</b> Rating dial (negative to positive) <b>Behavior:</b> Trained coders, rating dial (negative to positive) <b>Physiology:</b> IBI, SCL, and HRV	
<b>One</b> film clip with 3 scenes (amusing, sad, amusing); <b>One</b> stressful speech task	
160 US adults 100% female Mage = 47 6% Af-Am 23% As-m 62% Eu-Am 1% N-Am 1% N-Am 3% Other	
Zerwas et al., 2023	

Table 5 Studies emotion respor	s that used methons ses, and account	ods optimal for ex iting for lags. ( <i>cor</i>	amining emotion cohere nt'd)	nce: within-person	approaches, dynamic stimuli, continuous measures of
Study	Sample	Context	Response	Index of	Results
			Systems Measured	Coherence and Lag Window	
Constantinou	79 Cypriot	<b>Six</b> film clips	Experience:	Most positive	Experience-behavior coherence:
et al., 2023	students	(2 positive, 2	Rating dial (very	cross-correlation:	Neutral: E-Valence—B-Corr:10 <sup>X</sup>
	85% female	negative, and 2	unpleasant to very	E-Valence—	(SD: .26, range: NA)
	15% male	neutral)	pleasant)	P-SCL,	E-Valence—B-Zyg: .11 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .18, range: NA) Negative:
	Mage = 20		Behavior:	E-Valence—	E-Valence—B-Corr:47 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .34, range: NA)
	No ethnicity		Facial EMG	B-Zyg Absolute	E-Valence—B-Zyg: .16 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .26, range: NA)
	reported		(corrugator and	cross-correlation:	Positive: E-Valence—B-Corr:24 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .34, range:
			zygomatic)	E-Valence—	NA)
			Physiology:	P-HR	E-Valence—B-Zyg: .30 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .26, range: NA)
			HR and SCL	Most negative	Average experience-behavior coherence: .30 (SD: .27)
				cross-correlation:	Experience-physiology coherence:
				E-Valence—	Neutral: E-Valence—P-HR: .30 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .18, range: NA)
				B-Corr $+/-6 s$	E-Valence—P-SCL:04 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .26, range: NA)
				for HR+/- 10 $s$	Negative: E-Valence—P-HR: .27 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .09, range: NA)
				for all other	E-Valence—P-SCL:11 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .34, range: NA) Positive:
				variables	E-Valence—P-HR: .32 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .18, range: NA)
					E-Valence—P-SCL:07 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .34, range: NA)
					Average experience-physiology coherence: .20 (SD: .24)
					Group/Individual differences: NA Associations with well-being: NA

Experience:	Highest cross-	Experience-behavior coherence:
Rating dial,	correlation,	E-Valence—B-Corr: Anger:33 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .25, range: NA)
valence and arousal	retaining sign	Sadness:07 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .25, range: NA)
(negative to	+/-10 s lag	Neutral:06 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA)
positive and not		Contentment:02 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .20, range: NA) Amusement:
aroused to highly		08 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA)
aroused)		E-Valence—B-Zyg. Anger. 02 <sup>X</sup> (SD: 20, range: NA)
Behavior:		Sadness: -01 <sup>X</sup> (SD: 18, range: NA)
Facial EMG		Neutral: .03 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .15, range: NA)
(corrugator and		Contentment: $01^{X}$ (SD: .18, range: NA)
zygomatic)		Amusement: .10 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .13, range: NA)
Physiology:		Average experience-behavior coherence:
SCL and fingertip		Experience-physiology coherence:
temperature		E-Arousal—P-SCL: Anger:07 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .42, range: NA)
4		Sadness: - 08 <sup>X</sup> (SD: 40, range: NA)
		Neutral: .14 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .42, range: NA)
		Contentment: 20 <sup>X</sup> (SD: 33, range: NA)
		Amusement: $< 001^{\text{X}}$ (SD: 30, range: NA)
		E-Arousal—P-Temp Anger:10 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .41, range: NA)
		Sadness: .25 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .36, range: NA)
		Neutral:04 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .39, range: NA)
		Contentment:07 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .32, range: NA)
		Amusement:11 <sup>X</sup> (SD: .29, range: NA)
		Group/Individual differences:
		Age and emotion: E-Valence—B-Corr in younger adults
		> older adults for anger. Positive E-Arousal—P-SCL for
		older adults and negative
		E-Arousal—P-SCL for younger adults for anger. Positive
		E-Arousal-P-Temp for older adults and negative E-
		Arousal-P-Temp for younger adults for contentment
		Associations with well-being: NA
		(continued)

(younger)=23 No ethnicity reported

Mage

(anger, sadness, neutral, Five film clips

Saito et al.,

contentment,

26 older and 30 younger Japanese adults 52% female 48% male Mage(older) =73

(Part 1) 2023

amusement) and

Table 5 Studie emotion respo	s that used meth nses, and accour	ods optimal for exiting for lags. (co	kamining emotion cohere <i>nt'd</i> )	nce: within-person	approaches, dynamic stimuli, continuous measures of
Study	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence and Lag Window	Results
Saito et al., 2023 (Part 2)	Same as above	Same as above	Same as above	Absolute value of the highest cross- correlation +/- 10 s lag	Experience-behavior coherence: E-Valence—B-Corr: Anger: .47 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .17, range: NA) Sadness: .37 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .14, range: NA) Neutral: .30 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .11, range: NA) Contentment: .35 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .11, range: NA) Amusement: .26 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .00, range: NA) E-Valence—B-Zyg: Anger: .32 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .12, range: NA) Sadness: .29 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .10, range: NA) Neutral: .25 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .11, range: NA) Sadness: .29 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .10, range: NA) Neutral: .08 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .10, range: NA) Amusement: .08 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .11, range: NA) Annusement: .08 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .10, range: NA) Annusement: .08 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA) Neutral: .60 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA) Neutral: .60 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA) Neutral: .60 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA) Sadness: .58 <sup>×</sup> (SD: .16, range: NA)

Neutral: .55 <sup>×</sup> ( <i>SD</i> : .17, ran Contentment: .47 <sup>×</sup> ( <i>SD</i> : .15 Amusement: .44 <sup>×</sup> ( <i>SD</i> : .15 Amusement: .44 <sup>×</sup> ( <i>SD</i> : .15 <b>Average</b> experience-physis ( <i>SD</i> : .16) <b>Group/Individual differe</b> E-Valence—B-Corr in you for anger <b>Bevoint Well-b</b> Mercian. Eu-Am = European-American. L-Am = Latinx-Am. ME-Am = Middle Eastern- logy.  E  = absolute value of the experience raing. HR = heart rate. FPTT = finger pul = non-specific skin-conductance response rate. SCL = skin conductance level. EMG = ele stoic blood pressure. DBP = diastolic blood pressure. (R) = nevers scorted. Brown et al. ficance test. In some cases, SD was calculated using standard error and sample size. <b>A</b>	ance were computed by taking the absolute values of concrence indices for emotional contexts a study across emotion inductions and measures, and then reverse Fisher transforming the av
---	---

*Note.* AF-Am = African-American. As-Am = Asian-American. E = Experience. B = Behavior. P = Phy pulse amplitude. EPTT = ear pulse transit time. SCI beat interval. MAP = mean arterial pressure. SBP = participants. \* = p < .05. \*\* = p < .01. X = no sig coherence and **average** experience-physiology coherents(), Fisher transforming them, averaging with pairwise comparison, behavior-physiology coherence, we did not find enough studies to justify meaningful conclusions, and we have therefore omitted them from this review.

The demographic characteristic of the 9 core studies in Table 5 are summarized in the second column. One noticeable feature are the sample sizes: they are small by current standards, with a mean of 101, ranging from 56 to 186 participants. These generally small sample sizes are not surprising: they reflect the high effort, time commitment, and expertise required for collecting and analyzing the data *for each person* in these lab studies: intensive time-series sampling of multiple response channels involved in measuring experience, behavior, and physiology second-by-second during laboratory emotion inductions, as well as detailed behavior coding and complex data management. We note the included sample sizes provide sufficient statistical power for analyses involving within-subjects effects (i.e., changes in coherence at within-subjects level, the effects of main interest here).

Most of these studies (7 of 9) were conducted in the US, with the two remaining studies conducted in Japan and Cyprus. In the four US samples for which ethnicity was reported, the ethnic groups were primarily European-American (47%) and Asian American (30%), with much smaller numbers of Latinx American (12%) and African American (3.5%); the two non-US studies add Japanese nationals and Greek-speaking Cypriots. Most studies included both women and men. Notably, the studies in Table 5 are also diverse in terms of participants' age, ranging from young to older adults.

With regard to substantive characteristics, the nine studies are diverse in terms of the emotional context in which they assessed coherence. Most used film clips lasting several minutes to induce a wide range of emotions, including positive emotions like amusement and contentment, as well as negative emotions like sadness, disgust, and anger. One study (Butler et al., 2014) examined coherence in emotional reactions during a discussion between strangers about an upsetting film clip they had watched.

The studies are also diverse in the way emotional reactions were measured. To measure *emotion experience*, all studies used rating dials second-by-second. However, some studies captured the intensity of discrete emotions such as amusement and sadness (e.g., from none to a lot) whereas others captured the dimensions of valence (e.g., very unpleasant to very pleasant) or arousal (e.g., degree of activation). To measure *behavior*, most studies either trained coders who used rating dials to rate behavior second-by-second (e.g., degree of sadness on the face) or obtained facial EMG (e.g., recording activation over the zygomaticus major muscle). To measure *physiological* responding, studies included cardiovascular and electrodermal responses that index sympathetic, parasympathetic, and mixed ANS responses, such as skin conductance, heart rate variability, and heart rate. One important difference is that studies reported results for either individual indices (i.e., leading to several separate coherence estimates) or composites of physiological indices. Section 2.3 gives more background on the various measures used.

Finally, we found some differences between studies in the way coherence indices were computed. Although all nine studies used cross-correlations taking account of potential lags, some selected the highest correlation while retaining the sign, some selected the absolute value of the highest correlation, and some selected the most positive or the most negative correlation (see Section 2.5 for more detail on the different coherence indices). In sum, the studies represent diverse samples, emotions, contexts, and approaches to studying coherence. This means that we have to be aware of considerable heterogeneity across studies when we try to draw conclusions about general trends that emerge across these diverse studies.

In addition to these methodologically optimal nine studies, we wanted to consider a second group of studies that do not fit all the criteria but can help provide a broader evidence base regarding particular questions that are not addressed in many studies in Table 5. Those questions include, for example, potential group differences in coherence (e.g., between women and men) and the potential benefits of coherence for mental health and well-being. This second set of studies is shown in Table 6. These studies are of high quality and also used within-participant approaches to capture coherence but fall short of the optimal approach to quantifying coherence in one or more ways (e.g., they disregard lags among measures or they average responding across film clips). While these studies provide important insights, we weigh them less heavily in our analysis. Of the many available studies, we selected those that were methodologically sound, involved large samples, and provide a diverse range of emotion inductions and measures of emotion responses.

## 3.1 How pronounced is response system coherence during emotions?

The first question we asked of the studies summarized in Table 5 is whether their results show evidence for coherence in emotions. At the broadest level, we reviewed the *Results* column in Table 5 and aggregated the coherence indices across studies. The results are clear: the evidence is

Table 6 Exan	nples of studies tha	it examined within-pe	erson coherence usi.	ng other approac	hes.
Study	Sample	Context	Response	Index of	Results
			Systems Measured	Coherence	
Brown & Schwartz, 1980	60 US students and ex-students 50% female 50% male Mage=NA No ethnicity reported	48 standardized imagery situations to evoke happiness, sadness, anger, and fear	Experience: Valence (abbreviated version of Differential Emotion Scale) <b>Behavior:</b> Facial EMG (zygomatic, corrugator, masseter, lateral friontalis) <b>Physiology:</b> NA	Within- individual correlation	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> E-Happy—B-Zyg: .19 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Happy—B-Lorr:24 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Happy—B-Las: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Happy—B-Lat: .08 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Sad—B-Zyg:12 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Sad—B-Lat: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Sad—B-Lat: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Anger—B-Lat: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Rager—B-Lat: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Fear—B-Lat: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA)
					Associations with well-being: INA

aches.	
appro	,
other	
using	
coherence	
vithin-person	,
examined v	,
that	
<sup>t</sup> studies	
es of	
Example	'
9	
able	
Ĕ	(

Experience-behavior coherence: E-Valence—B-Corr:90* (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—B-Corr: 00 (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—B-Zyg: .57* (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—B-Zyg: .47* (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—B-LNR: .76* (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-HR: .76* (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-HR: .48* (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-SCR: .52* (SD and range: NA) E-SCR: .52* (SD and ran	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> E-Funniness—B-AU12: .71 <sup>X</sup> ( <i>SD</i> and range: NA) <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> NA <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> NA <b>Associations with well-being:</b> NA	(continued)
Linear and quadratic correlation (reflect physiological reactions as a function of differences in pleasantness (or arousal) and are not responses to particular pictures	Median value of product- moment correlations	
<b>Experience:</b> Valence and arousal (Self- Assessment Manikin) <b>Behavior:</b> Facial EMG (corrugator and zygomatic) <b>Physiology:</b> HR and SCR	Experience: Funniness ratings Behavior: FACS behavior coding (AU12) Physiology: NA	
42 pictures varied widely in content (including the neutral and mundane) and affective tone, from calm to arousing and pleasant unpleasant	One of two permutations of a set of 35 black and white slides of jokes and cartoons	
64 US students 50% female 50% male No ethnicity reported	61 German students 100% female Mage=23 No ethnicity reported	
Lang et al., 1993	Ruch, 1995	

	ence: (SD and erence: NA es: g: NA
Results	Experience-behavior coher E-SurpriseB-Surprise: .46** range: NA) Experience-physiology coh Group/Individual differenc Surprise intensity: No effect Associations with well-bein
g outet approach Index of Coherence	Intra-individual correlations among syndrome components for nonaggregated (raw) data
Response Systems Measured	Experience: Self- report ratings of surprise at the quiz solutions Behavior: coding (brow raise, eye widening, mouth opening/jaw drop summed into an index of surprise ranging from 0 (no component shown) to 3 (all three components shown)) Physiology: NA
Context	Surprise induction; Computerized quiz (45 items) with questions and solutions
Sample	35 German students 69% fémale 31% male Mage=26 No ethnicity reported
Study	Reisenzein, 2000b

<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> Average across pictures, words, and sounds: E-Valence—B-Corr:85 <sup>X</sup> ( <i>SD</i> and range: NA) E-Valence—B-Zyg: .50 <sup>X</sup> ( <i>SD</i> and range: NA) <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> NA <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> NA <b>Associations with well-being:</b> NA	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> NA <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> Only significant/trending effects were reported Fear Film clip E-Anxious—P-HR: $B$ : 1.21** ( $SE$ : 42, range: NA) Anger Film clip E-Anxious—P-HR: $B$ : 86 ( $SE$ : 48, range: NA) E-Depressed—P-HR: $B$ : -1.31* ( $SE$ : 64, range: NA) E-Depressed—P-HR: $B$ : -1.31* ( $SE$ : 64, range: NA)	(continued)
Linear correlation (reflect EMG reactivity as a function of valence and are not responses to particular stimuli)	HLM: Relations between feelings and HR within each condition were modeled at Level 1, and reflected the unique relation between HR and that specific feeling in that condition, while controlling for	
Experience: Valence (Affect Matrix: pos-neg, so higher scores indicate positive valence) Behavior: Facial EMG (corrugator and zygomatic) Physiology: NA	Experience: Valence (ratings of anxious, hostile, depressed, positive) Behavior: NA Physiology: HR	
66 affective pictures, sounds, and words were chosen from standardized stimulus sets	Eight film clips eliciting fear, anger, sadness, and happiness	
<ul> <li>68 US students</li> <li>(subsamples ranged from 63- 64 for different tasks)</li> <li>100% female Mage=20</li> <li>3% Af-Am</li> <li>15% As-Am</li> <li>67% Eu-Am</li> <li>7% L-Am</li> </ul>	215 US adolescents 49% female 51% male Mage=13 16% Af-Am 70% Eu-Am 14% Other or mixed	
Larsen et al., 2003	Hastings et al., 2009	

Study	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence	Results
				all other feeling–HR relations at baseline and in the four emotion conditions	E-Anxious—P-HR: B: 1.50*** (SE: .52, range: NA) E-Depresed—P-HR: B: -1.74*** (SE: .61, range: NA) <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> Externalizing and internalizing symptoms were related to some types of coherence. However, there are complex interactions involving emotional context, measured emotion, and gender <b>Associations with well-being:</b> NA
Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013, Study 1	<ul> <li>37 US students</li> <li>100% female</li> <li>Mage=20</li> <li>5% Af-Am</li> <li>5% As-Am</li> <li>5% L-Am</li> <li>27% "other,"</li> <li>"more than one</li> <li>race," or missing</li> </ul>	25 neutral pictures under the unregulated instruction, 75 negative pictures (25 under each instruction), and 75 positive pictures (25 under each instruction)	Experience: Rating dial (negative to positive) Behavior: Facial EMG (corrugator and zygomatic) Physiology: Composite (HR, systolic and	Most positive cross-correlation +/- 8 s	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> Average across all conditions: Negative pictures: E-Valence— B-Corr: .43 <sup>X</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: E-Valence— B-Zyg: .40 <sup>X</sup> (SD and range: NA) <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> Average across all conditions: Negative pictures: E-Valence— P-Composite: .53 <sup>X</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: E-Valence—

P-Composite: .54 <sup>X</sup> ( <i>SD</i> and range: NA) <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> Conditic (instructed behavior suppression, instructed physio suppression and control): General coherence in control > both instructed conditions <b>Associations with well-being:</b> NA	Most positive Experience-behavior coherence: cross-correlation Average across all conditions: +/- 8 <i>s</i> B-Corr: 45 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: E-Valence— B-Corr: 45 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: E-Valence— B-Zyg: 24 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) Experience-physiology coherence: Average across all conditions: Negative pictures: E-Valence— P-Composite: .56 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: E-Valence— P-Composite: .59 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: .59 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) CoupOsite: .59 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) Positive pictures: .59 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: .50 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range:
diastolic blood pressure, respiratory rate, respiratory amplitude (R), FPA (R), FPTT (R))	<b>Experience:</b> Rating dial (negative to positive) <b>Behavior:</b> Facial EMG (corrugator and zygomatic) <b>Physiology:</b> Composite (HR, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, respiratory rate, respiratory rate, respiratory amplitude (R), FPA (R), FPTT (R))
	25 neutral pictures under the unregulated instruction, 75 negative pictures (25 under each instruction), and 75 positive pictures (25 under each instruction)
	37 US students 100% female Mage=20 8% Af-Am 32% As-Am 30% Eu-Am 8% L-Am 3% N-Am, 19% "other," "more than one race," or missing
	Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013, Study 2

<b>Table 6</b> Exam <b>Study</b>	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence	Results
Sommerfeldt et al., 2019	1,065 US adults 57% female 43% male Mage=56 18% Af-Am < 1% As-Am 78% Eu-Am 1% N-Am 3% listed another option	Laboratory stress tasks: Stroop color-word task and Morgan and Turner Hewitt MATH task	Experience: Ratings of stress (not stressed at all to extremely stressed) Behavior: NA Physiology: HR	6 time points; Linear mixed- effects model (LMEM) to examine whether the (statistical) effect of one of the Level 1 variables (e.g., subjective stress) on the other Level 1 variable (e.g., heart rate) is moderated by the individual- differences variable	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> NA <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> NA <b>Group/Individual differences:</b> Denial coping: b:07*** <b>Associations with well-being:</b> Cross- sectional Depressive symptoms: b: -0.25** Trait anxiety: b: -0.21** Psychological well-being: b: 0.05*

Experience-behavior coherence: Average across genders: E-Valence—B-Corr: .39 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—B-Zyg:15 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—B-Corr: .20 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—B-Cyg: .14 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—B-Cyg: .14 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-HR: .06 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-RR: .19 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-RR: .10 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Valence—P-RR: .57 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—P-SCR: .57 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—P-RR: .10 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—P-RR: .10 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—P-RR: .10 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arousal—P-RR: .57 <sup>×</sup> (SD and range: NA) E-Arous
Nonparametric- correlations (Spearman)
Experience: Valence (very unpleasant to very pleasant) and arousal (very calm to very excited) Behavior: Facial EMG (corrugator and zygomaticus) Physiology: HR, PEP, RSA
15 film clips with five emotional states (threat-Joss-, achievement-, and recreation-related, and neutral)
44 Austrian students 50% female 50% male Mage=23.5 No ethnicity reported
Rattel et al., 2020

(continued)

Petrova       279 US adults       Trier Social Stress       Experience:       Within-person       Experience-behavio         ct al.,       Mage=62       Test and expressive       Raings on       slope of the       Experience-pysiolo         2021       53% female       writing       6 triplets of       relationship       E-Negative-P-HR:         2021       53% female       writing       6 triplets of       herveen heart       range: NA)         98% Eu-Am       Behavior: NA       nee and negative       Group/Individual         98% Eu-Am       Behavior: NA       nee points for       Triat mindifuess: n 21*         98% Eu-Am       Behavior: NA       nee points for       Triat mindifuess: n 21*         98% Eu-Am       Behavior: NA       nee points for       Triat mindifuess: n 21*         7       Trier, after       Describing face of F       Trier, after       Describing face of F         7       Trier, after       Describing face of F       Trier, after       Descripting face of F         7       Trier, after       Descripting face of F       Trier, after       Descripting face of F         7       Trier, after       Descripting face of F       Trier, after       Descripting face of F         7       Trier, after       Bayesian	Study	Sample	Context	Response Systems Measured	Index of Coherence	Results
Van Doren25 US adultsEcologicalExperience:Bayesian multi-Experience-behaviet al.,68% femalemomentaryArousal (6 dailylevel models:Experience-physiolo202132% maleassessmentprompts of "HowWithin-personE-Arousal—P-HR: I202132% maleassessmentprompts of "HowWithin-personE-Arousal—P-HR: I202132% maleassessmentprompts of "HowWithin-personE-Arousal—P-HR: I202132% theassessmentprompts of "HowWithin-personE-Arousal—P-HR: I8% As-Am8% As-Amsetween HR/E-Arousal—P-SCL:now?"SCL and self-= NA)8% L-Am8% L-Amreported arousalNegative emotionalitNegative emotionalitNegative emotionalitBehavior: NAPhysiology: NAPhysiology: NACender: No differention	Petrova et al., 2021	279 US adults Mage=62 53% female 47% male 98% Eu-Am	Trier Social Stress Test and expressive writing	Experience: Ratings on 6 triplets of negative emotions Behavior: NA Physiology: HR	Within-person slope of the relationship between heart rate and negative affect, only 3 time points for experience (pre Trier, post Trier, after expressive writing)	Experience-behavior coherence:NA Experience-physiology coherence: E-Negative—P-HR: $b: 1.26^{X}$ (SD: 1.89, range: NA) Group/Individual differences: Negative affect: $r: -14^{*}$ Trait mindfulness: $r: .18^{**}$ Describing facet of FFMQ: $r: .25^{***}$ Suppression: $r: -21^{***}$ Reappraisal: $r: .10^{**}$ Reappraisal: $r: .10^{**}$ Reappraisal: $r: .10^{**}$
HR and EDA	Van Doren et al., 2021	25 US adults 68% female 32% male Mage=32 8% As-Am 84% Eu-Am 8% L-Am	Ecological momentary assessment	Experience: Arousal (6 daily prompts of "How awake/active do you feel right now?" from not at all to extremely) Behavior: NA Physiology: HR and EDA	Bayesian multi- level models: Within-person estimate between HR/ SCL and self- reported arousal	<b>Experience-behavior coherence:</b> NA <b>Experience-physiology coherence:</b> E-ArousalP-HR: b = 0.23* (SE: .04, range = NA) E-ArousalP-SCL: b = 0.68* (SE: .23, range = NA)

Table 6 Examples of studies that examined within-person coherence using other approaches. (cont'd)

tune. FPA = inger pulse amplitude. EP11 = ear pulse transit tune. SCK = non-specific skin-conductance response rate, SCL = skin conductance level. EMG = electromyography. IBI = inter-beat interval. MAP = mean arterial pressure. SBP = systolic blood pressure. DBP = diastolic blood pressure. (R) = reverse scored. \* = p < .05. \*\* = p < .01. X = no significance test. In some cases, SD was calculated using standard error and sample size.

consistent with the idea that experience-behavior and experience-physiology coherence exist. Specifically, all of the six significance tests reported for experience-behavior coherence were significantly different from 0. Of the 12 significance tests reported for experience-physiology coherence, seven (58%) were significantly different from 0.

Next, we estimated central tendency of effect sizes across studies. To do so, we had to reduce heterogeneity across studies. We achieved this by (a) converting all effect sizes to absolute effect sizes, (b) obtaining one effect size per coherence index per study by averaging across multiple indices of coherence within studies (across multiple emotion inductions or multiple measures; see "Results" column of Table 5), and (c) focusing on the seven studies that were conducted within US-American cultural contexts, leaving the two studies conducted in Japan and Cyprus separate. For the five US studies that reported experience-behavior coherence, the mean effect size was r = .49, and the range was .13 < r < .74. For the seven US studies that reported experience-physiology coherence, the mean effect size was r = .28, and the range was .09 < r < .43. These coefficients represent crossmethod convergence correlations and are not corrected for the imperfect reliability of the two measures being correlated. In other words, they could not possibly reach the maximum correlation of 1.0. In fact, the correlations observed here are similar to those for cross-method correlations in other research areas (Funder & Ozer, 2020).<sup>5</sup>

How do these trends across the US studies compare with the two studies conducted outside the US? In the Cypriot study (Constantinou et al., 2023), average experience-behavior coherence was r = .30 and average experience-physiology coherence was r = .20 for the emotional film clips. In the Japanese study (Saito et al., 2023), average experiencebehavior coherence was r = .30 and average experience-physiology coherence was r = .53 for the emotional film clips, when using the absolute coherence index.<sup>6</sup> The Cypriot study thus showed results comparable to the US studies. The Japanese study showed similar results in experiencebehavior coherence but higher experience-physiology coherence compared to the other studies. This could be due to cultural differences or to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For example, cross-method correlations for Big Five personality traits average about.50 (John et al., 2008) and convergence correlations between different informants (e.g., parents and teachers) in the psychopathology literature are often in the .30 range or lower (Achenbach et al., 1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This study also reported coherence indices with the sign retained. These findings looked quite different, indicating that which index is chosen can make a difference for results.

the fact that experience of arousal was used in this study when measuring experience-physiology coherence (versus experience of valence or discrete emotions in the eight other studies). We come back to this distinction.

On the whole, based on these analyses, we can conclude there is on average moderate to strong experience-behavior coherence in the US, Cypriot, and Japanese samples, and moderate experience-physiology coherence in the US and Cypriot samples. Studies ranged widely in their effect sizes for both types of coherence, going from small to large effects (Funder & Ozer, 2020).

So far, we have addressed the question of whether response systems cohere by comparing coherence during emotion inductions to the null hypothesis of a zero correlation, and then we considered average effect sizes to capture the trends across studies. Other ways to address this question add greater specificity, such as comparing (a) coherence during emotional states to coherence during neutral states or (b) coherence during more intense emotional states to coherence during less intense states. Two studies compared emotional to neutral states (Constantinou et al., 2023; Saito et al., 2023). These studies indicate that coherence levels are on the whole similar for emotional and neutral states, with one exception: experiencebehavior coherence for *neutral* film clips in Constantinou et al. (2023) was lower compared to positive and negative film clips.

Similar coherence for neutral versus emotional states could mean two things. First, it could mean coherence is not specific to emotions. However, it could also mean the neutral stimuli were not entirely neutral. Indeed, Figs. 1 and 2 in Saito et al. (2023) indicate the Japanese participants had rated the valence of the "Abstract Shapes" film clip (considered a neutral stimulus) about as negatively as the valence of the sad "The Champ" film clip (which shows a boy whose father has just died). Similarly, the Cypriot participants in Constantinou et al. (2023) rated the neutral clips just above the midpoint of the valence scale (5.8 on a 1–9 scale) but showed some elevation in arousal ratings (3.9 on a 1–9 scale). It is possible, for example, that the neutral film clips evoked aversive feelings of boredom. This observation speaks to the general difficulty of inducing truly neutral states.

Is there any evidence that coherence increases with increasing emotional intensity? Five studies addressed this possibility. Brown and colleagues (2020) compared one high-intensity emotional film clip to three low-intensity ones and found that experience-physiology coherence was significantly higher in the high-intensity condition. Another study approached the same question by comparing coherence based on the intensity with which participants experienced and expressed emotions (Mauss et al., 2005). They found that intensity of participants' amusement experience was associated with greater amusement behavior-physiology coherence and intensity of participants' sadness experience was associated with greater sadness behavior-physiology coherence (albeit with smaller effect sizes). Three additional studies did not find effects of emotion intensity on coherence (Lang et al., 1993; Lohani et al., 2018; Reisenzein, 2000a). Due to the correlational design, these associations need to be interpreted with caution because they are subject to confounds (e.g., a third variable could drive both emotion intensity and coherence). Nonetheless, on the whole, some findings are consistent with the idea that coherence becomes greater with increasing emotion intensity. However, only a few studies have addressed the question, there are several null findings, and the findings are at odds with those pointing to generally comparable levels of coherence for emotional versus neutral states.

What can we tell about the *directionality* of coherence? Of the studies that allow for directional conclusions (e.g., those that retained the sign of cross-correlations), we observe that positive emotion experience (e.g., amusement or positive valence) positively coheres with behavior indicative of greater positive emotional expressions (amusement behavior, positively valenced behavior, or zygomaticus activation), and vice versa for negative emotion experience (sadness behavior, negatively valenced behavior, or corrugator activation). Thus, there are clear and consistent associations between experience and behavior along the valence dimension.

In terms of physiological responses, findings are more complicated. There appears to be a valence and arousal (or possibly a discrete emotion) effect, such that positive emotion experience (amusement) is associated with greater cardiovascular activation or skin conductance level. In contrast, negative emotion experience (sadness) is generally not associated with cardiovascular responding or negatively associated with skin conductance level. These effects held when controlling for somatic activation (Mauss et al., 2005), which addresses the possibility that muscular activation during amusement (i.e., amusement behavior) may have driven the physiological activation.<sup>7</sup> These findings indicate some level of response fractionation within physiological systems: direction of associations depends on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It is interesting to consider what it means when somatic activity does not account for experiencephysiology linkage. After all, somatic activity is linked to behaviors and to ANS responding and can be considered part of an emotional response (see Chen et al., 2022).

specific physiological subsystem (cardiovascular vs. electrodermal; Lacey, 1967). In another study (Hastings et al., 2009), anxiety was positively associated with heart rate whereas feelings of depression were negatively associated with heart rate. These findings indicate that different emotions (based on combinations of dimensions or based on discrete categories) are associated in different directions with individual physiological measures.

One possibility is that, when it comes to physiological responses, the arousal dimension of experience matters more than the valence dimension. Indeed, when the arousal dimension of experience is assessed (compared to the valence or discrete emotion), we observe higher experience-physiology coherence but lower experience-behavior coherence (Lang et al., 1993; Rattel et al., 2020). On the whole, this is in line with the idea that responses that share more features with one another (e.g., degree of reflectiveness versus automaticity; Evers et al. (2014); Lang et al., 1993) cohere more tightly with each other. In addition, in most cases where arousal experience was assessed we observe a positive direction of association, such that greater arousal experience is associated with greater cardiovascular or sympathetic activation – consistent with the view that sympathetic activation prepares the organism for action (Lang et al., 1993; Rattel et al., 2020; Saito et al., 2023; Van Doren et al., 2021).

### 3.2 Does response system coherence vary across types of coherence, emotions, contexts, and people?

The second set of questions we can ask is whether coherence varies depending on the type of coherence, the emotion, the context, or the person. At the broadest level, the studies in Table 5 show more consistent evidence as well as larger effect sizes for experience-behavior compared to experience-physiology coherence. For the five US studies that reported *experience-behavior* coherence, the mean effect size was r = .49, and the range was .13 < r < .74. For the seven US studies that reported experience-physiology coherence, the mean effect size was r = .28, and the range was .09 < r < .43. Across five studies that obtained both types of coherence indices,<sup>8</sup> experience-behavior coherence was greater than experience-physiology coherence in four cases (and equal in one case) as seen in the "Results" column in Table 5. We note this asymmetry—greater

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> We do not include the study by Saito and colleagues in this count because experience-behavior coherence involved ratings of valence while experience-physiology coherence involved ratings of arousal. Thus, the two indices cannot be compared.

experience-behavior coherence compared to experience-physiology coherence—is found only when experience is assessed along the valence dimension or with discrete emotion experience but not with the arousal dimension. As described above, when we consider *arousal* experience, coherence between experience and physiology is greater. This finding, along with the fact that some studies involved single-item (rather than composite) indices of physiological responding (Mauss et al., 2005; Zerwas et al., 2023), speaks against the explanation that experience-physiology coherence is lower only because measures of physiological responding are less reliable.

Two studies compared coherence across different emotions, as indicated in the Results column in Table 5 (Saito et al., 2023; Zerwas et al., 2023). Saito et al. (2023) found some differences across different emotion inductions. However, it is difficult to come to firm conclusions based on these findings given the study had a relatively small sample size and a complex design involving four different coherence pairings, two kinds of coherence indices, and two age groups that yielded different results from one another. Zerwas et al. (2023) compared a film clip (that generally induces amusement and sadness) to a speech task (that generally induces anxiety). They found greater experience-behavior coherence and experience-skin conductance level coherence during the film clip than the speech. Yet, as we discuss next, these two conditions vary with regard to the larger context and not only in emotion. Two additional studies shown in Table 6 compared different emotional context (e.g., positive to negative, fear and sadness; Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013; Hastings et al., 2009). They found generally similar levels of coherence across the emotions they studied. At this point, then, the evidence as to whether coherence differs by emotional state is weak and inconclusive.

In terms of the larger context, we were able to compare less social to more social conditions. Only one study examined coherence in a social context, a conversation between strangers (Butler et al., 2014), which we can compare to the other studies in which participants were alone (e.g., viewing films by themselves). Effect sizes in Butler and colleagues' (2014) study were smaller than in most other studies, especially when considering experience-behavior coherence. This discrepancy was also found when comparing it to the study by Constantinou and colleagues (2023) that used indices of coherence comparable to those used by Butler and colleagues (2014).

Another study compared a relatively more social context (a speech given by oneself but video-recorded) to a less social context (amusing and

sad film clips viewed by oneself) within the same study (Zerwas et al., 2023). The argument here is that even though participants gave the speech alone without an audience physically present, an audience was implied because the speech was recorded, and participants were informed that a friend as well as a panel of judges would later view the recordings. The study found lower levels of experience-behavior coherence and experience-SCL coherence for the speech than the film viewing task. These differences could be due to differences in methodology or the simple fact that the tasks vary in terms of somatic movement and difficulty. However, these differences could also be due to the more social nature of the conversation and the speech task. Specifically, participants might regulate their emotions to adhere to social norms in social contexts, which would lead to lower coherence, particularly with behavior measures that are relatively easy to control.

In terms of variation across individuals, we can look at standard deviations and ranges of coherence indices across participants (see the Results column in Table 5) to capture two aspects of variation. Both indices point consistently to substantial individual differences: Across the five US studies, the mean standard deviation is.30 for experience-behavior coherence. Two studies reported ranges across participants. Overall, the lowest correlation was – .74 and the highest correlation was .92. Across the six US studies, the mean standard deviation is .25 for experience-physiology coherence. One study reported ranges across participants. Overall, the lowest correlation was – .95 and the highest correlation was .99. In sum, the standard deviations and the ranges of coherence indices consistently support substantial variation across people in experience-behavior coherence as well as in experience-physiology coherence.

What predicts this variation? A few studies examined whether people differ in coherence based on age, gender, or ethnicity (see the Results column in Table 5). For age, one study (Lohani et al., 2018) found that older adults in the US showed greater experience-physiology coherence than younger adults, with no age differences in experience-behavior results. A second study (Saito et al., 2023) found some age effects in the opposite direction; however, this study with Japanese participants had a smaller sample size, and age effects were found only in some emotional contexts (e.g., anger but not any of the other four emotions). Based on only these two studies, no clear picture emerges for age differences.

In terms of gender, studies have found either no effect (e.g., Mauss et al., 2011) or greater coherence in women than in men (e.g., Lang et al., 1993; Rattel et al., 2020). No study we are aware of found ethnicity differences in coherence but only two studies reported having tested for such effects (Mauss et al., 2005; Mauss et al., 2011). Mauss et al. (2005) compared all ethnic groups that were included (African American, European American, Asian American, and Latinx American), which likely led to inconclusive results given small sample sizes (the total sample size was 59 in the study). Mauss et al. (2011) is the most diagnostic test in that they compared specifically Asian/Asian American to European/European American groups on theoretical grounds (Tsai et al., 2002). Many studies did not report ethnicity, and those that do show that ethnicity is not well sampled in most studies (see Sample column in Tables 5 and 6). Thus results for ethnicity are inconclusive to date.

What psychological processes predict coherence? Several studies examined emotion regulation, with a focus on suppression and reappraisal (see Gross & John, 2003). In two studies, instructions to suppress emotional behaviors led to lower levels of experience-behavior as well as experiencephysiology coherence compared to no instruction conditions (Butler et al., 2014; Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013). Dan-Glauser and Gross (2013) also examined a condition in which participants were instructed to suppress their physiological responses and found it led to lower levels of experiencebehavior as well as experience-physiology coherence compared to noinstruction conditions. Studies measuring individual differences in habitual suppression show a converging picture, with greater suppression predicting lower coherence (Brown et al., 2020; Petrova et al., 2021).

The picture for reappraisal is more complicated and less conclusive. In Butler and colleagues' (2014) study, instructions to use reappraisal led to lower levels of coherence between experience and negative behavior but higher levels of coherence between experience and positive behavior. One study found no significant relationship between habitual reappraisal and coherence (Brown et al., 2020) and one study found a small positive link (Petrova et al., 2021).

Other studies have examined aspects of mindfulness, including emotional acceptance and awareness (Baer et al., 2008; Brown et al., 2007; Ford et al., 2018). Instructions to accept emotions did not lead to differences in coherence compared to a no-regulation control condition (Dan-Glauser & Gross, 2013). In contrast, in terms of individual differences, Petrova and colleagues (2021) measured two facets of mindfulness, namely the tendency to describe and to be aware of one's emotions, and found that both were associated with greater experience-physiology coherence. Conversely, Sommerfeldt and colleagues (2019) measured use of denial as a coping strategy (which can be seen as the opposite of acceptance, in some ways) and found that less denial predicted higher experience-physiology coherence. Lastly, a study by Sze and colleagues (Sze et al., 2010) provides evidence on mindfulness as a predictor of coherence. They compared Vipassana meditators, dancers, and control participants with no meditation or dance expertise. They found a gradient of coherence along the lines of mindfulness expertise, with meditators showing the highest levels of coherence, followed by dancers, followed by controls.

#### 3.3 Does response system coherence have benefits?

We found five studies that examined whether within-person coherence of response systems is associated with benefits such as well-being and mental health. One study examined experience and behavior during a positive emotion induction and found that coherence predicted a decrease in depressive symptoms and an increase in well-being six months later, even when controlling for levels of positive emotion reactivity (Mauss et al., 2011). Three studies examined experience-physiology coherence during laboratory stressors (Petrova et al., 2021; Sommerfeldt et al., 2019) or mixed emotion inductions (Brown et al., 2020), and found coherence was associated cross-sectionally with (or predicted by, in the case of Petrova et al., 2021) less depression and anxiety and greater well-being, again when controlling for negative emotion reactivity. On the whole, the few studies that tested the idea that coherence is associated with benefits yielded results consistent with this idea.

A recent study assessed both experience-behavior and experiencephysiology coherence in both a film clip and a stressful speech task as predictors of well-being (Zerwas et al., 2023). The study found that experience-behavior coherence during the film clip (but not the speech task) was associated with psychological well-being, satisfaction with life, and social connection, while experience-physiology coherence measured in either context was not associated with these benefits. This lack of association for experience-physiology coherence stands in contrast to earlier studies that found links between experience-physiology coherence and well-being, including when measured during a speech stressor (Brown et al., 2020; Petrova et al., 2021; Sommerfeldt et al., 2019). These differences could be explained by different samples or different coherence metrics (see Table 5). Taken together, these studies suggest that type of coherence and context may matter when it comes to benefits of coherence. However, this idea needs to be tested by assessing multiple types of coherence in multiple contexts within the same study, and ideally with longitudinal designs.

If coherence is associated with benefits, why might this be the case? One study (Mauss et al., 2011) examined a potential mechanism of experience-behavior coherence: social connection. This process was chosen because the social-functional perspective suggests that greater experience-behavior coherence involves more accurate and authentic communication, which might have social benefits. Consistent with this idea, greater experience-behavior coherence during an amusing film clip predicted greater social connection, which accounted for change in depression symptoms and well-being six months later. These effects held when accounting for levels of positive emotion experience and behavior, indicating they are not due to confounding of coherence with emotional reactivity.

On the whole, research is consistent with the idea that some types of coherence might have benefits in terms of well-being and mental health. Yet, few studies have addressed this notion, and some results were inconsistent. We return to these observations in the future directions.

# 4. Methodological, theoretical, and well-being implications

Taken together, the proposed integrative view of coherence along with the review of existing research have methodological, theoretical, and well-being implications, which we discuss next.

### 4.1 Methodological and measurement implications

The present research has broad implications for how we study coherence, specifically, and emotions, more broadly.

### 4.1.1 What are methodological implications for research on coherence?

The present review has several implications for how we should best go about studying coherence, which are summarized in Table 2. Some of these implications were arrived at by conceptual analysis. These include that coherence is best studied at the within-person level (Row 2.1) and pairwise rather than systemwide (Row 2.2). In terms of experimental design considerations, coherence should be studied in intense emotion inductions that fluctuate across time so as to capture the dynamic range of emotions (Row 2.3.1). Several different comparisons are of interest in giving us more nuanced and specific insights into coherence (Row 2.3.2). When it comes to assessment of emotional responses, more is generally better: More systems, more indicators within each system, and more frequent assessment of these measures, and measures should be obtained concurrently with one another and while a person is in an emotional state (Row 2.4). In our review, we addressed whether composites of physiological activation or individual indicators are preferred. Based on often low reliabilities across measures of physiological responding and based on the fact that results tend to vary across measures of physiological responding (see Table 2), we concluded that individual measures are preferable.

Last, we provided analyses to empirically assess how to go about constructing coherence indices from time series data (Row 2.5). These analyses indicate that a second-by-second resolution is ideal for the time series (along with a 3-second moving average to smooth the data), because it aligns with theorizing on the duration of emotional episodes and with past work, and it provides the most nuanced look at a participant's emotional trajectory. That said, we did not find much evidence for information being lost when coarser, up to 15-second resolutions are used. Thus, researchers have some flexibility in which timing resolution they choose if second-bysecond assessments are difficult to obtain.

We also found empirical support that a window of +10/-10 s is ideal to calculate cross-correlations on empirical grounds and because it is maximally inclusive of potential lags across measures without being too inclusive by going beyond expected lags. Within that window, the highest correlation should be chosen to indicate coherence. One question was whether to retain the sign of the highest correlation (thus retaining information about the direction of associations), or to use the absolute value of the highest correlation (thus indexing strength of association regardless of the direction). Our recommendation is to use one approach consistently so that results can be compared more easily across studies. Of the two it seems that retaining the sign is advantageous because the direction of associations is often of interest. In cases where this approach is not favored by the experimenters based on theoretical or practical considerations, it should still be reported at least in a supplement to foster replication and knowledge accumulation within this field of study.

### 4.1.2 What are methodological implications for research on emotions more broadly?

Our analysis and findings have measurement implications more broadly in pointing us toward how we can measure emotions (Bradley et al., 2000; Mauss & Robinson, 2009). If coherence is substantial and the norm, then any one response (e.g., specific facial movements) can be taken as indication that a particular emotion has occurred (e.g., anger). We might even assume that we need to measure only one response (e.g., self-reported experience), because it can serve as a proxy for all other responses. If, however, coherence is modest or absent and variable across people and situations, then there is value, and perhaps even necessity, in measuring multiple responses. The latter is what we found to be the case, indicating that as emotion researchers, the more response systems we can capture, the more we can learn.

The present review suggests that not only is there value in measuring multiple emotion response systems but there is value in assessing their relationships with one another. This is important in the study of coherence but also in the study of emotions more broadly, to fully understand emotion and their functions (Kuppens & Verduyn, 2017; Molenaar & Campbell, 2009). One example that illustrates the importance of relationships among measures is a recent study in which we assessed within-person relationship between daily emotion and daily well-being (Willroth et al., 2020). We named the strength of this relationship emotion globalizing, because it indicates the degree to which emotions generalize unduly to satisfaction with life more globally. The study found emotion globalizing was associated with a maladaptive profile of functioning, above and beyond mean levels of emotion or well-being.

Last, these methodological implications apply to other fields concerned with relationships among multivariate, dynamic responses such as those examining interpersonal or group processes. For example, one question these methodological insights are relevant to is that of *inter*personal processes such as empathy. Using the same approaches we developed here can help us understand, for example, how coherent one person's experience, behavior, and physiology are with another person's experience, behavior, and physiology (Butler & Randall, 2013; Chen et al., 2021; Gordon et al., 2021; Levenson & Gottman, 1983; Tomashin et al., 2022; West & Mendes, 2023; Zaki et al., 2008; Zerwas et al., 2021). Thus, other fields can benefit from the insights generated from the research reviewed here.

### 4.2 Implications for emotion theory

Questions about emotion coherence and its functions address fundamental issues in emotion theory (Barrett, 2006, 2017a; Coan, 2010; Darwin, 1872; Ekman, 1992; Keltner & Haidt, 1999; Lang, 1988; Levenson, 2003; Nussbaum, 2001; Russell, 2003): Are emotions more akin to 'natural kinds' - coherent responses with a latent central mechanism - that help the organism respond to challenges? Or are emotions more akin to constellations of stars - unconnected responses - that appear coherent only through socially constructed, culturally imposed patterns? These ideas cut to the heart of what emotions and their functions are, and debate about them goes back centuries. A better understanding of the nature and function of coherence is of basic scientific interest, not just to emotion scientists but also to researchers interested in phenomena that centrally involve emotion (e.g., empathy, aggression, prejudice, relationships, personality, mental disorders involving affect). Next, we discuss implications for theories of coherence and then for emotion theories more broadly.

# 4.2.1 Implications for our understanding of emotion response system coherence

Although emotion theories agree that emotions involve multiple response systems, they differ in the way they explain whether and how response systems cohere with one another. As we described in Section 1, a strong version of *latent* emotion theories maintains that response systems cohere across different emotions and contexts and that such coherence has benefits. A strong version of *emergent* theories maintains that emotional response systems do not cohere, and that coherence does not have benefits. We proposed, as have others, that both theories are subject to qualifications, which lead us to a set of modified predictions: (a) There is some, but not perfect, coherence; (b) coherence will vary across types of coherence, people, emotions, and contexts; and (c) some types of coherence have benefits, which depend on type of coherence and the context.

Our review of studies that used within-person approaches found overall evidence in favor of some coherence. For studies that used optimal methods (shown in Table 2), the means were r = .49 for experience-behavior coherence and r = .28 for experience-physiology coherence, across samples, emotions, measures, and contexts. These numbers indicate that coherence exists, but it is far from perfect. That said, these numbers

likely underestimate true coherence, because (a) they are usually based on single observations of each response system (versus an aggregate of multiple items that test theory would demand), (b) the measurement error for a coherence estimate is the sum of measurement errors for the studied variable pair and this attenuates the coherence estimate, and (c) they are usually obtained in laboratory emotion inductions versus more intense, real-life emotional experiences (see John & Soto, 2007).

Our review also addressed our second prediction, namely that coherence differs by response systems being compared. We found that experiencebehavior coherence (r = .49) tends to be greater than experience-physiology coherence (r = .28). One could argue this is not a fair comparison because behavior is captured with more subjective measures (e.g., coder ratings) than physiology (e.g., objective measures of physiological responses). However, even when researchers used electromyographic measures of facial behavior that objectively capture physiological responding in facial muscles, we find the same pattern: greater experience-behavior coherence than experiencephysiology coherence (r = .30 versus r = .20 in Constantinou et al., 2023).

Overall, then, we found variation across types of coherence (experiencebehavior versus experience-physiology coherence) and across subtypes of response-system coherence (e.g., valence-behavior versus arousal-behavior coherence; experience-skin conductance versus experience-heart rate coherence). This is in line with the integrative coherence view, whereby coherence is not an all-or-none but rather a differentiated process.

What might explain these patterns? The difference between experience-behavior coherence and experience-physiology coherence is consistent with the idea that types of coherence differ from one another as a function of the number of features shared by the emotion response systems involved. Specifically, experience and behavior are both more reflective processes (i.e., slower, more conscious, more subject to conscious control) and should thus exhibit greater coherence with one another. In contrast, most physiological responses represent more automatic processes (i.e., faster, less conscious, less subject to conscious control), and should thus cohere to a lesser degree with more reflective processes like experience (Evers et al., 2014).

Another explanation is that coherence serves primarily social functions (Barrett et al., 1987; Crivelli & Fridlund, 2019; Keltner & Haidt, 1999), at least in the tasks the reviewed studies considered. Experience-behavior coherence involves responses visible to others and thus serves these social functions more directly than experience-physiology coherence. These considerations predict that experience-behavior should be more pronounced in the contexts examined in the studies we reviewed. In other words, the asymmetry we found in our literature review aligns with sociofunctional accounts of emotion that suggest emotions are meant to be communicated through our behaviors to help create and maintain social connections (Keltner & Haidt, 1999).

Experience-physiology coherence might be more pronounced in contexts that call the body to prepare for action, such as encountering a threat. But even in a well-controlled fear-inducing task, some variance in the physiological system will always be due to organismic homeostatic regulation, not due to emotional activation. After all, physiological functions like heart rate and electrodermal activity have not evolved to provide researchers with an index of emotional activation (Wilhelm & Roth, 2001). Regardless of the reason for the difference between experience behavior and experience-physiology coherence, however, the conclusion is that coherence does not operate in an all-or-none way across different response systems.

Next, we asked about variability in coherence across individuals. The results were clear and consistent: coherence varies substantially across people, with many people showing some coherence, some people showing near perfect coherence, and some people showing the opposite pattern of what would be expected—negative coherence or incoherence rather than a simple lack of association. One example of this is when *more unpleasant* experience is associated with *more pleasant* facial expressions. This pattern seems contradictory and suggests that regulatory mechanisms are operating here. One explanation is that people with reverse experience-behavior coherence are actively masking unpleasant feelings with facial indicators of positive emotion, such as a smile.

What might explain these substantial individual differences? A handful of studies has examined age, ethnicity, gender, emotion regulation, and mindfulness. Age and ethnicity have so far yielded no or inconsistent effects, which may be due to a lack of power to detect such effects in the available studies. Moreover, ethnicity may need to be operationalized in stronger ways through cross-national collaborations, such as comparing Japanese participants living in Japan to Ghanaian participants living in Ghana to European-Americans living in the US. Of the sociodemographic factors, gender has received the most consistent support, with women showing greater coherence in both experience-behavior and experiencephysiology than men. With regard to emotion regulation, expressive suppression has received the most consistent support, with more suppression linked to lower experience-behavior coherence in both correlational and experimental designs. This makes sense in that suppression selectively alters emotional behavior, which should lower its coherence with experience. Some studies also find that suppression lowers experience-physiology coherence. This is more complicated to explain but one idea is that suppression more generally disrupts emotional responding (Gross et al., 2000). Lastly, mindfulnessrelated processes such as awareness, ability to describe one's emotions, and experience with mindfulness meditation were found to be associated with greater experience-physiology coherence. This is in line with mindfulness attuning people more to their emotional states, including their physiological aspects.

Five studies tested the prediction that coherence would be associated with benefits. Two studies found experience-behavior coherence was associated with well-being and mental health (Mauss et al., 2011; Zerwas et al., 2023), and three studies found experience-physiology associated with well-being and mental health (Brown et al., 2020; Petrova et al., 2021; Sommerfeldt et al., 2019). Broadly, these findings are consistent with the idea that at least some forms of coherence are beneficial.

To begin to better understand which types of coherence might have benefits and which might not, Zerwas et al. (2023) compared links between two types of coherence in two tasks on the one hand and wellbeing on the other hand. They found that only experience-behavior coherence in the film clip but not the three other measures of coherence (all of which were experience-physiology measures) were associated with greater well-being. This is consistent with the idea that benefits vary based on type of coherence and particular context. In the case of experiencebehavior coherence, one study (Mauss et al., 2011) also identified a theoretically motivated mechanistic link: social connection. Specifically, greater experience-behavior coherence during amusing film clips predicted greater social connection, which predicted greater well-being six months later. These findings are in line with the idea that experience-behavior coherence benefits people via social-communicative pathways (Frijda et al., 1994; Keltner & Haidt, 1999; Niedenthal & Brauer, 2012).

In sum, the present findings are consistent with the notion that although we found evidence for moderate levels of coherence when we average across people, emotions, and contexts, the equally important conclusion is that coherence varies substantially across people, emotions, and contexts. In turn, we have found that coherence is associated with well-being benefits but more research is needed to more conclusively support this idea. Broadly, these findings support the view of coherence as a process that flexibly responds to particular contexts.

#### 4.2.2 Implications for theories of emotions beyond coherence

What can these findings tell us about the nature of emotions, more broadly? A first, basic question the present findings speak to is about the two groups of theories of emotion outlined in Table 1. They are inconsistent with the strong latent view of emotions depicted in Fig. 1, whereby a central mechanism coordinates all emotional responses. They are also inconsistent with the strong emergent view of emotions depicted in Fig. 2, whereby emotional responses are independent responses to the environment, and coherence merely emerges in people's perception. Rather, they are consistent with qualifications to *both* views: A latent view that allows for flexibility and context dependence, and an emergent view that allows for coherence afforded by the situations that people encounter or as driven by affective dimensions.

Can we adjudicate between the qualified versions of the two types of theories? One possibility is that the answer depends (see Cacioppo et al., 2000). For example, latent views might be more accurate for some emotions, perhaps those with evolutionarily prepared sets of responses (e.g., fear; Tooby & Cosmides, 2008), and emergent views might be more accurate for other emotional states (e.g., blends, less survival-related, more social emotions like shame or guilt). This idea would translate to the hypothesis that for some emotions we would find greater coherence (more consistent with qualified latent views) and for some emotions we would find less or no coherence (more consistent with qualified emergent views). Given we do not have much evidence that speaks to emotion specificity in coherence, we cannot at present address this possibility.

Another, related possibility is that asking which theory is correct is not the most fruitful avenue to pursue. Perhaps the most fruitful way forward is to transcend the dualism of latent versus emergent views, just like the field transcended the biology versus culture or nature versus nurture dualism (De Houwer, 2011). The integrative view of coherence can serve to reconcile both theories. Such an integration could open up a new research agenda about the nature and benefits of emotions, with questions such as, When and why is there coherence? How and why does coherence vary across people, emotions, and contexts? What predicts individual differences in coherence? What factors decrease (versus increase) coherence? What benefits do different types of coherence have, in which contexts do they have them, and what mechanisms underlie them? We return to these questions in the directions for future research.

Another question that has sometimes been associated with coherence is that of the structure of emotions: Are emotions best understood as discrete categories (e.g., anger, fear, sadness, happiness) versus as located along a limited number of dimensions (e.g., valence, arousal, and approach vs. avoidance; Barrett, 2006; Cowen et al., 2019; Cunningham et al., 2013; Lench et al., 2011; Lindquist et al., 2013)? On the whole, the present findings do not constitute a strong test of these theories because they primarily concern relationships among emotion measures (e.g., the association between emotion experience and facial behavior), rather than about the structure of these measures (see Cowen & Keltner, 2021; Lang, 1988; Levenson, 2014). In addition, they do not allow us to distinguish between discrete and dimensional structure because even if we found distinct patterns of coherence (e.g., different patterns for anger versus sadness versus fear), this could be consistent with dimensional accounts in that each emotional state also varies along combinations of dimensions (e.g., anger is negative, high arousal, and approach while fear is negative, high arousal, and avoidance).

There is one exception, where the findings of the present review speak to questions about the structure of emotion. Specifically, if discrete emotion behaviors (e.g., smiling) cohere more with discrete experiences (e.g., joy) than with dimensional experiences (e.g., positive valence), this would indicate that discrete emotion ratings add information beyond dimensional ratings, which means that a discrete structure represents emotion more accurately (cf. Barrett, 2006). Conversely, if it does not matter whether discrete or dimensional assessments are used, this means that a dimensional structure suffices to represent emotion. The two studies that assessed discrete emotions for experience and behavior (Mauss et al., 2005, 2011) showed the largest effects sizes for experience-behavior coherence, including when compared to one study that used the same emotional film clip stimulus but dimensional ratings of experience and behavior (Zerwas, 2023). Thus, there is some evidence to suggest that information about discrete emotion states adds precision above and beyond dimensions.

Finally, the present findings speak to another basic question, namely whether any one response system constitutes a gold standard for establishing that an emotion has occurred. In other words, is any one response necessary and sufficient for an emotion? Most laypeople share the intuition that feelings—subjective emotion experience—establish an emotion has
occurred and, conversely, the absence of feelings means no emotion has occurred. Similarly, some researchers argue we should consider emotion experience a gold standard. The present findings that there is, at best, loose coherence across response systems suggests that no one system can truly stand in for the others and serve as the gold standard.

How, then, could we establish an emotion occurred? Our findings indicate two options. One option is to examine multiple response systems and establish that someone is more or less in an emotional state, depending on how many response systems are activated. However, this option does not seem quite right, given coherence is far from normative. The second option, more consistent with existing findings, is to not think of an emotion as a single entity but rather that an emotion is a multi-componential state that can be characterized along several loosely coupled response systems. This means we cannot say that an emotion has or has not occurred because the boundaries of the category are fuzzy. This also means we need to be specific in our research and theorizing and make explicit which component (experience, behavior, or physiology) we reference (see Bradley et al., 2000; Lang, 1988; Mesquita, 2003).

#### 4.3 Implications for well-being and mental health

Emotions are crucially involved in many aspects of psychological functioning, such as well-being (Diener et al., 2006; Fredrickson, 2001; Gruber et al., 2013) and mental health (e.g., mood and anxiety disorders, borderline personality disorder, self-harming disorder (Keltner & Kring, 1998; Kring & Mote, 2016; Rottenberg & Johnson, 2007)). In addition, emotions are implicated in performance (Baas et al., 2008; Lane, 2007; van Kleef et al., 2004), decision making (Cohen et al., 2008; Lerner et al., 2015), moral judgments (Feinberg et al., 2012), social functioning (e.g., aggression, empathy, stereotyping (Bushman, 2002; Lyubomirsky et al., 2005; Zaki & Cikara, 2015)), and risk for diseases (e.g., cardiovascular disease, metabolic disorder) (DeSteno et al., 2013; Grossman et al., 1997; McEwen et al., 2009).

Thus, what we learned about coherence also has important applied implications for improving these outcomes. Specifically, it can help us discern (a) what constitutes healthy versus unhealthy emotional responses, (b) how to diagnose unhealthy emotional responses, and (c) how to improve emotional responses and, in turn, their down-stream consequences. To date, much research has focused on characterizing healthy vs. disordered emotion in terms of *mean* levels (e.g., Bylsma et al., 2008; Gruber, 2011; Kring & Mote, 2016). Although this approach provides important insights, it appears to be incomplete (see Hodgson & Rachman, 1974). Understanding coherence – characterizing emotion in terms of the type and extent of coordinated action among emotional response systems – should allow us to understand better what constitutes healthy vs. disordered emotion processes (Molenaar, 2015).

Our review found that more coherent responses are associated with better well-being and mental health. On the whole, this finding indicates that more coherent emotional responding is healthier. Yet, we found enormous individual and situational variation as well. The best conclusion may be that a wide range of coherence levels (say, from low to high) is healthy, especially in contexts that call for emotion regulation. However, a complete lack of coherence or reverse coherence (in a direction opposite to that expected) may well be unhealthy.

What do the present findings mean for how we can diagnose disorders of emotion and mood? Clinicians may ask, for example: Should someone who reports fear during flying not be treated because a physiological test does not show elevated heart rate during flight? Or, conversely, someone who does not report fear but shows elevated heart rate (see Wilhelm & Roth, 1998)? Individuals with a diagnosis of anxiety or posttraumatic stress disorder often show avoidance behaviors regarding their feared situations or hyperarousal in these situations. Both symptoms constitute an important part of the diagnostic criteria but are solely assessed based on self-report. Thus, experience is still the core criterion for diagnosis (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), despite intensive attempts in the past 30 years to find physiological markers for diagnoses, with little success (Insel, 2022). The present results could help overcome this impasse. They suggest a holistic approach to diagnosis might be best, with no single response system being granted the deciding role; we would need to accept that we cannot expect all measured systems to always point in the same direction (see Wilhelm & Roth, 2001).

The present analysis and findings might ultimately help us develop novel, specific, and theoretically derived targets for prevention and intervention (see Fisher, 2015). For example, to improve emotional functioning we may want to target the idiographic linkage of responses in addition to (or instead of) mean levels of emotion. Our findings regarding the antecedents of coherence point to ways in which this could happen, such as via emotion regulation (e.g., avoiding expressive suppression) or mindfulness (e.g., increasing emotional awareness). More research is needed before we should and can confidently implement such techniques and interventions, and we will return to these points in the Future Directions section. However, this approach appears to be a promising avenue.

# 5. Directions for future research

The present chapter outlined our current understanding of two fundamental questions about emotion response system coherence: (1) To what extent do emotional response systems (i.e., experience, behavior, and physiology) cohere during emotional episodes, and (2) is greater coherence associated with benefits? In closing, we discuss key directions for future research on coherence indicated by our findings and analysis. In many ways, the study of coherence is in its infancy, and this future research agenda will allow for progress in addressing hypotheses that are foundational to affective science. Emotions are centrally involved in many social (e.g., empathy, aggression, prejudice, relationships, personality, well-being) and clinical phenomena (e.g., mood disorders, mental health, physical health), and thus this research agenda is important for social, behavioral, and health sciences more broadly.

Both the methodological considerations and the integrative view of coherence presented here can help guide research that focuses on the *when*, *how*, and *why* more so than the *whether* of coherence. Throughout this chapter, we provide examples for specific hypotheses derived from the integrative view and what the data say about them. At the same time, it will be important to continue developing the theory iteratively with empirical tests, and derive more specific, a-priori hypotheses. Next, we describe particularly important directions for research regarding the basic nature of coherence, differences in coherence across response systems, people, and contexts, and implications for well-being and health.

## 5.1 Basic advances in the study of coherence

First, at the most basic level, and throughout all future research on coherence, we need larger and more diverse samples that provide better representation of genders, age groups, ethnicities, and other important sociodemographic factors (e.g., socioeconomic status).

Second, and this direction also cuts across various questions, to build knowledge and identify patterns across multiple studies, we need more complete reporting of metrics and greater methodological consistency. For example, it would be useful to report standard deviations and ranges of coherence. As another example, it would be helpful to agree on one type of cross-correlation approach across studies. A third example regards physiological measures in particular, with different studies involving different measures and composites. It would be useful to take a more consistent approach to selecting physiological measures. Table 2 summarizes our recommendations for what features and approaches to reporting could serve to integrate different studies and thereby allow the field to gain a broader knowledge base. Selecting measures more consistently would also reduce Type-I error rates.

Third, to come to a more complete understanding of coherence, we need to measure response systems more comprehensively. Behavior is a good example, with most studies having focused on just facial movements. A greater range of behaviors would help us more completely test ideas about coherence in their full form, namely that emotions affect the entire human organism. Such behaviors could include vocal patterns, gestures, or whole-body-movements (Keltner et al., 2019). Beyond a broader assessment of the response systems of experience, behavior, and physiology, it will be interesting to broaden the scope to other response domains, such as attention, perception, memory, cognitive biases, judgment, action readiness, and decision making (Barrett, 2006; Coan, 2010; Frijda, 1988; Russell, 2003; Scherer, 1984).

Fourth, we emphasized in our analysis pairwise correlations between lagged measures as a starting point that balances complexity with simplicity. Once we have a more nuanced and complete understanding of pairwise coherence, we might move toward more complex idiographic analyses such as dynamic factor analyses to represent coherence in fuller nuance and complexity (Fisher, 2015; Molenaar, 1985, 2015).

Fifth, one particular strength of the cross-correlation approach applied to intensely sampled time series is that it can give insight into lags. Yet, while the studies we reviewed accounted for lags, no study as of yet has considered them a substantive question. In future work, we should examine lags as an interesting outcome in its own right and try to systematically understand how response systems are lagged and whether there are meaningful individual differences in lags. For example, we might ask whether if someone's behavior lags experience by more than is typically the case, does this interfere with communication?

Last, remaining on the question of timing and dynamics, the approaches highlighted in this review converge with calls for examining withinperson, dynamic changes in emotions more generally (Kahneman, 2000; Kuppens & Waugh, 2021; Molenaar & Campbell, 2009; though, see Dejonckheere et al., 2019), for a cautionary note. Of note, the dynamics we examined here occur at the level of seconds to minutes. It is interesting to contrast this with other methods concerned with emotion dynamics, such as ecological momentary assessments (EMA) and diaries (Kuppens et al., 2022; Van Doren et al., 2021; Willroth et al., 2020). These approaches are useful in that they capture emotion dynamics in vivid, reallife contexts. However, they usually do so at the level of minutes to days. Our analysis-pointing to the importance of capturing below-minute dynamics-suggests that the above-minute timescale captures a different process. This suggests two interesting directions for research. First, we want to test whether time scale truly matters-that is, does coherence at the second scale differ from coherence at the minute, hour, day, or week scale? And second, we want to unite the fine-grained time scale of laboratoryexperimental research with the ecological validity of daily-life assessments to further our understanding of emotions, by further developing methods that allow us to assess emotions at the second scale in daily life (Wilhelm & Grossman, 2010).

### 5.2 Differences across types of coherence, emotions, contexts, and people

An important theme of the integrative view of coherence and the present findings is that coherence differs across types of coherence, people, emotions, and contexts. Yet, while these themes are important from both a basic-science and a practical perspective, many questions remain.

First, we need more research that examines and directly compares different kinds of coherence. Emerging results indicate that experiencebehavior coherence might be greater than experience-physiology coherence. One idea with intriguing implications for the functions of coherence is that this difference is due to the specific tasks in which researchers have assessed coherence: mostly passive film-viewing tasks. Experience-physiology coherence might be more pronounced in tasks that require active coping and call the body to be prepared for action, such as encountering a threat or fleeing from danger. This hypothesis remains to be tested. Similarly, we want to broaden our tests to examine behavior-physiology coherence, which might also be particularly implicated in contexts that demand active coping or that impede insight into conscious experience (Cacioppo et al., 1992).

A second kind of difference is based on different emotions. Very few studies have compared coherence during different emotions to one another, and those that did do not allow for conclusive results yet (Hastings et al., 2009; Saito et al., 2023; Zerwas et al., 2023). One idea is that the latent and emergent views apply to different emotions. For example, more biologically-evolutionary meaningful emotions such as fear might involve a more prepared set of responses and lead to greater coherence compared to other emotional states (e.g., blends, surprise). To test this idea, studies are needed that compare different emotional states to one another while holding constant the mode of induction (e.g., all films, all recall). Beyond comparing different emotions, we want to learn more about whether coherence is specific to emotions versus neutral states, and whether coherence increases with increasing intensity of emotion. Lastly, it would be interesting to learn whether coherence is specific to emotions versus other, more homeostatic or motivational states that involve affect (e.g., hunger, fatigue).

In terms of the third difference, the integrative view of coherence predicts that context modulates coherence. One particularly crucial variable is social versus non-social contexts. Researchers might expect more social (versus less social) contexts to either lead to *less* coherence because they involve more regulatory norms or to *more* coherence because they call for more outward communication. While only two studies speak to these hypotheses, they were consistent in indicating lower coherence in more social contexts (Butler et al., 2014; Zerwas et al., 2023). These results are in line with the idea that social contexts invoke regulatory norms and emotion regulation and thus involve less coherence. Future studies should follow up on these initial results and examine the modulating role of social and other contexts more fully. Development of ambulatory assessment tools are especially useful for these purposes (Chen et al., 2022; Park, Gordon, & Mendes, 2023).

The last important theme of differences was that *people* vary substantially in experience-behavior as well as in experience-physiology coherence. We found a striking range in all indices of coherence, with many people showing some coherence, some people showing nearperfect coherence, and some people showing what we could call reverse coherence (e.g., smiling more when feeling sadder). One basic question that has yet to be addressed is how stable these individual differences are across time and contexts. This is particularly important as it relates to the idea that coherence contributes to well-being insofar as people exhibit more or less coherence consistently over time.

A second line of questions regarding individual differences is what predicts individual differences in coherence. The studies we reviewed suggest two groups of interrelated antecedents of coherence: sociodemographic factors and psychological factors. In terms of sociodemographic factors, several theorists have suggested that age would play an important role (Lohani et al., 2018; Mendes, 2010) but existing research on age and coherence does not yet allow us to come to firm conclusions. Tables 5 and 6 indicate a particular dearth of studies involving children. Yet children might be especially interesting to study, because emotion responses are being shaped and formed in childhood.

Theories also indicate that gender should play a crucial role, usually leading to the prediction that researchers should find more coherence in women compared to men (e.g., Brody et al., 2008). Initial research is consistent with this hypothesis (e.g., Lang et al., 1993; Rattel et al., 2020), but many open questions remain, including about the kinds of coherence that would (or would not) show this gender effect as well as what drives this effect (e. g., differences in learned display rules, emotion regulation, or biologically based organization of the emotion systems).

With regard to ethnicity and culture, we again see strong theorizing but dearth of empirical research. Table 5 indicates how little we know about people across the globe, with seven of the nine core studies conducted in the US. This is a vexing gap, given there is interesting and clinically important theorizing regarding response system coherence in some African and Asian cultures (e.g., in Ghana: Chentsova-Dutton & Dzokoto, 2014; Dzokoto & Okazaki, 2006; e.g., in China: Ryder et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2011). Within the US studies, we note lack of diversity and striking underrepresentation especially of ethnic groups other than European- and Asian-heritage ones. Thus, we need more diverse studies that allow us to compare different groups of people to one another to better understand how sociocultural contexts shapes coherence.

In terms of psychological antecedents of coherence, initial research indicates that emotion regulation and aspects of mindfulness play a role in shaping coherence. The most is known about suppression, with experimental and individual-difference studies converging to indicate that suppression disrupts coherence, perhaps because it alters some but not all response systems. Some research has begun to explore reappraisal, acceptance, and emotional awareness but results are not conclusive yet. We need correlational studies as well as, especially, experiments to better understand the effects of emotion regulation and mindfulness on coherence.

### 5.3 Implications for well-being and health

Emotions are crucially involved in a wide range of well-being and health outcomes, pointing to the importance of understanding coherence for these outcomes. To date, much research has focused on characterizing healthy vs. unhealthy emotion in terms of mean levels (e.g., Bylsma et al., 2008; Gruber, 2011; Kring & Mote, 2016). While this approach provides important insights, it appears to be incomplete (see Hodgson & Rachman, 1974; Molenaar, 2015), and future research on coherence would allow us to better measure and understand what constitutes healthy vs. unhealthy emotion. For instance, here we found that lower coherence is associated with and predicts lower well-being and mental health, above and beyond mean levels of emotional reactivity. We could next ask whether the same is true for other functioning and health correlates of emotion, thus leading to better description and diagnosis of the emotional component of disorders, and more complete causal models of health and disease.

To address these questions, we especially need more research that uses longitudinal designs to test the idea that coherence plays a lead role in predicting changes in well-being or health. In addition, interventions that target coherence (e.g., through mindfulness or relaxation techniques) are needed to speak to a causal role. Such interventions could include meditation practices that should increase experience-physiology coherence (Sze et al., 2010) or expressive practices that should increase experience-behavior coherence. To arrive at a complete understanding of the putative benefits of coherence, we also need to examine theoretically motivated mechanisms. Some research points to the role of social processes in explaining benefits of experience-behavior coherence but only one study has tested this idea with a correlational design. Theorizing suggests experience-physiology coherence operates through active coping or through awareness, but no studies have tested these ideas.

We might also ask *for whom* and *when* coherence is beneficial by testing emotional, contextual, and person-level moderators; for instance, experience-behavior coherence might be less advantageous in contexts that do not as much value authentic expression of emotion. In sum, then, much remains to be learned about whether, how, when, and why coherence benefits people's well-being and health. However, research on coherence appears to be a promising avenue to help us understand and diagnose the nature of the emotional core of disorders and problematic behavior, and ultimately point to ways in which we can help improve these problems.

# 6. Conclusion

The present review presents an advance in a question that has long divided emotion theories: Do emotional response systems—experience, behavior, and physiology—cohere tightly during emotions or are they usually uncoordinated? We propose that both views are right but that both views must be qualified as well, and we find support for this integrative view of coherence in our review of the empirical literature.

Looking ahead, the integrative view opens a new research agenda about the nature and benefits of emotions, suggesting methods and a theoretical framework to address questions such as when and why is there coherence? How and why does coherence vary across people, emotions, and contexts? What predicts individual differences in coherence? What factors decrease and what factors increase coherence? What benefits do different types of coherence have, in which contexts do they have them, and what mechanisms underlie them? By transcending existing divisions, the integrative view has the promise to move the study of coherence forward and to generate new questions and insights about emotions and their role in well-being and health.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Emily Butler for her contributions to developing the ideas presented here, and Bertram Gawronski, Robert W. Levenson, and Lisa Feldman Barrett for their comments on earlier drafts of this chapter. We also thank Akie Saito for sharing disaggregated data. Part of this work was supported by NSF grant 1941868 to Iris B. Mauss.

### References

- Achenbach, T. M., Mcconaughy, S. H., & Howell, C. T. (1987). Child adolescent behavioral and emotional-problems: Implications of cross-informant correlations for situational specificity. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(2), 213–232. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0033-2909.101.2.213.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.).
- Anderson, D. J., & Adolphs, R. (2014). A framework for studying emotions across species. *Cell*, 157(1), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.003.
- Averill, J. R. (1980). A constructivist view of emotion. In H. K. R. Plutchik (Ed.). Emotion: Theory, research, and experience (pp. 305–339). Academic Press.
- Baas, M., De Dreu, C. K., & Nijstad, B. A. (2008). A meta-analysis of 25 years of moodcreativity research: Hedonic tone, activation, or regulatory focus? *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(6), 779–806. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012815.

- Bach, D. R., Flandin, G., Friston, K. J., & Dolan, R. J. (2010). Modelling event-related skin conductance responses. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 75(3), 349–356. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2010.01.005.
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., ... Williams, J. M. G. (2008). Construct validity of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. *Assessment*, 15(3), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1073191107313003.
- Barchiesi, G., Demarchi, G., Wilhelm, F. H., Hauswald, A., Sanchez, G., & Weisz, N. (2020). Head magnetomyography (hMMG): A novel approach to monitor face and whole head muscular activity. *Psychophysiology*, 57(3), https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp. 13507.
- Barrett, K., & Campos, J. J. (1987). Perspectives on emotional development: II. A functionalist approach to emotions. In J. Osofsky (Ed.). *Handbook of infant development* (pp. 555–578) (2nd ed.). Wiley.
- Barrett, L. F. (1997). The relationships among momentary emotion experiences, personality descriptions, and retrospective ratings of emotion. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23(10), 1100–1110. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672972310010.
- Barrett, L. F. (2006). Are emotions natural kinds? Perspectives on Psychological Science, 1(1), 28–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00003.x.
- Barrett, L. F. (2017a). How emotions are made. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Barrett, L. F. (2017b). The theory of constructed emotion: An active inference account of interoception and categorization. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 12(11), 1833. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsx060.
- Barrett, L. F., & Bliss-Moreau, E. (2009). Affect as a psychological primitive. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 41, 167–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08) 00404–8.
- Barrett, L. F., Adolphs, R., Marsella, S., Martinez, A. M., & Pollak, S. D. (2019). Emotional expressions reconsidered: Challenges to inferring emotion from human facial movements. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest, 20*(1), 1–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1529100619832930.
- Berntson, G. G., Quigley, K. S., & Lozano, D. (2007). Cardiovascular psychophysiology. In J. T. Cacioppo, L. G. Tassinary, & G. G. Berntson (Eds.). *Handbook of psychophysiology* (pp. 182–210) (3rd ed.). Cambridge University Press.
- Berntson, G. G., Bigger, J. T., Jr., Eckberg, D. L., Grossman, P., Kaufmann, P. G., Malik, M., ... van der Molen, M. W. (1997). Heart rate variability: Origins, methods, and interpretive caveats. *Psychophysiology*, 34(6), 623–648. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1997.tb02140.x.
- Boiger, M., & Mesquita, B. (2012). The construction of emotion in interactions, relationships, and cultures. *Emotion Review*, 4(3), 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1754073912439765.
- Bollen, K., & Lennox, R. (1991). Conventional wisdom on measurement: A structural equation perspective. *Psychological Bulletin*, *110*(2), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.110.2.305.
- Bonanno, G., & Keltner, D. (2004). The coherence of emotion systems: Comparing "online" measures of appraisal and facial expressions, and self-report. *Cognition and Emotion*, 18(3), 431–444. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930341000149.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss, Vol. 1, Attachment (1). Basic Books.
- Bradley, M. M., & Lang, P. J. (2000). Measuring emotion: Behavior, feeling, and physiology. In R. D. Lane, & L. Nadel (Eds.). *Cognitive neuroscience of emotion* (pp. 242–276) Oxford University Press.
- Brody, L. R., & Hall, J. A. (2008). Gender and emotion in context. In M. Lewis, & J. M. Haviland-Jones (Eds.). *Handbook of emotions* (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.

- Brown, C. L., Van Doren, N., Ford, B. Q., Mauss, I. B., Sze, J. W., & Levenson, R. W. (2020). Coherence between subjective experience and physiology in emotion: Individual differences and implications for well-being. *Emotion*, (5), 818–829. https:// doi.org/10.1037/emo0000579.
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. A., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical foundations and evidence for its salutary effects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 18(4), 211–237. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10478400701598298.
- Brown, S.-L., & Schwartz, G. E. (1980). Relationships between facial electromyographyand subjective experience during affective imagery. *Biological Psychology*, 11(1), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-0511(80)90026-5.
- Bushman, B. J. (2002). Does venting anger feed or extinguish the flame? Catharsis, rumination, distraction, anger, and aggressive responding. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(6), 724–731. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167202289002.
- Butler, E. A., & Randall, A. K. (2013). Emotional coregulation in close relationships. *Emotion Review*, 5(2), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073912451630.
- Butler, E. A., Gross, J. J., & Barnard, K. (2014). Testing the effects of suppression and reappraisal on emotional concordance using a multivariate multilevel model. *Biological Psychology*, 98, 6–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.09.003.
- Bylsma, L. M., Morris, B. H., & Rottenberg, J. (2008). A meta-analysis of emotional reactivity in major depressive disorder. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(4), 676–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2007.10.001.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Gardner, W. L., & Berntson, G. G. (1999). The affect system has parallel and integrative processing components: Form follows function. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(5), 839–855. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.5.839.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Berntson, G. G., Larsen, J. T., Poehlmann, K. M., & Ito, T. A. (2000). The psychophysiology of emotion. In M. Lewis, & J. M. Haviland-Jones (Eds.). *The handbook* of emotion. Guildford Press.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Uchino, B. N., Crites, S. L., Snydersmith, M. A., Smith, G., Berntson, G. G., & Lang, P. J. (1992). Relationship between facial expressiveness and sympathetic activation in emotion: A critical review, with emphasis on modeling underlying mechanisms and individual differences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(1), 110–128. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.62.1.110.
- Chen, K. H., Brown, C. L., Wells, J. L., Rothwell, E. S., Otero, M. C., Levenson, R. W., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2021). Physiological linkage during shared positive and shared negative emotion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 121(5), 1029–1056. https:// doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000337.
- Chen, K. H., Casey, J. J., Connelly, D. E., Merrilees, J., Yang, C. M., Miller, B. L., & Levenson, R. W. (2022). Lower activity linkage between caregivers and persons with neurodegenerative diseases is associated with greater caregiver anxiety. *Psychophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.14040.
- Chentsova-Dutton, Y. E., & Dzokoto, V. (2014). Listen to your heart: The cultural shaping of interoceptive awareness and accuracy. *Emotion*, 14(4), 666–678. https://doi.org/10. 1037/a0036193.
- Clore, G. L., Ortony, A., & Foss, M. A. (1987). The psychological foundations of the affective lexicon. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(4), 751–766. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.4.751.
- Coan, J. A. (2010). Emergent ghosts of the emotion machine. *Emotion Review*, *2*, 274–285. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910361978.
- Coan, J. A., & Allen, J. J. B. (2007). The handbook of emotion elicitation and assessment. Oxford University Press.

- Cohen, J. B., Pham, M. T., & Andrade, E. B. (2008). The nature and role of affect in consumer behavior. In C. P. Haugtvedt, P. Herr, & F. Kardes (Eds.). *Handbook of consumer psychology* (pp. 297–348) Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Constantinou, E., Vlemincx, E., & Panayiotou, G. (2023). Testing emotional response coherence assumptions: Comparing emotional versus non-emotional states. *Psychophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.14359.
- Cowen, A., Sauter, D., Tracy, J. L., & Keltner, D. (2019). Mapping the passions: Toward a high-dimensional taxonomy of emotional experience and expression. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 20(1), 69–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100619850176.
- Cowen, A. S., & Keltner, D. (2021). Semantic space theory: A computational approach to emotion. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 25(2), 124–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics. 2020.11.004.
- Crivelli, C., & Fridlund, A. J. (2019). Inside-out: From basic emotions theory to the behavioral ecology view. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 43(2), 161–194. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10919-019-00294-2.
- Cunningham, W. A., Dunfield, K. A., & Stillman, P. E. (2013). Emotional states from affective dynamics. *Emotion Review*, 5(4), 344–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073913489749.
- Dan-Glauser, E. S., & Gross, J. J. (2013). Emotion regulation and emotion coherence: Evidence for strategy-specific effects. *Emotion*, 13(5), 832–842. https://doi.org/10. 1037/a0032672.
- Danyluck, C., & Page-Gould, E. (2019). Social and physiological context can affect the meaning of physiological synchrony. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 8222. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-019-44667-5.
- Darwin, C. (1872/1998). The expression of the emotions in man and animals. Oxford University Press.
- Davidson, R. J. (1992). Prolegomenon to the structure of emotion: Gleanings from neuropsychology. Cognition and Emotion, 6(3–4), 245–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02699939208411071.
- Davis, M. (1992). The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 15, 353–375. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.15.1.353.
- De Houwer, J. (2011). Why the cognitive approach in psychology would profit from a functional approach and vice versa. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(2), 202–209.
- Dejonckheere, E., Mestdagh, M., Houben, M., Rutten, I., Sels, L., Kuppens, P., & Tuerlinckx, F. (2019). Complex affect dynamics add limited information to the prediction of psychological well-being. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 3(5), 478–491. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0555-0.
- DeSteno, D., Gross, J. J., & Kubzansky, L. (2013). Affective science and health: The importance of emotion and emotion regulation. *Health Psychology*, 32(5), 474–486. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030259.
- Diener, E., Lucas, R. E., & Scollon, C. N. (2006). Beyond the hedonic treadmill—Revising the adaptation theory of well-being. *American Psychologist*, 61(4), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.61.4.305.
- Dolan, R. J. (2002). Emotion, cognition, and behavior. Science (New York, N. Y.), 298(5596), 1191–1194. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1076358.
- Dzokoto, V. A., & Okazaki, S. (2006). Happiness in the eye and the heart: Somatic referencing in west African emotion lexica. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 32(2), 117–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/095798406286799.
- Ekman, P. (1977). Biological and cultural contribution to body and facial movement. In J. Blacking (Ed.). *Anthropology of the body* (pp. 39–84) (1st ed.). Academic Press.
- Ekman, P. (1992). An argument for basic emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, 6(3–4), 169–200.

- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1969). The repertoire of nonverbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage, and coding. *Semicotica*, 1, 49–98.
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1978). Facial action coding system. Environmental Psychology & Nonverbal Behavior, 1(1), 56–75.
- Ellsworth, P. C. (1994). Levels of thought and levels of emotion. In P. Ekman, & R. J. Davidson (Eds.). *The nature of emotion: Fundamental questions* (pp. 192–196) Oxford University Press.
- Ellsworth, P. C., & Scherer, K. R. (2003). Appraisal processes in emotion. In R. J. Davidson, H. H. Goldsmith, & K. R. Scherer (Eds.). *Handbook of the affective sciences* (pp. 563–673) Oxford University Press.
- Evers, C., Hopp, H., Gross, J. J., Fischer, A. H., Manstead, A. S., & Mauss, I. B. (2014). Emotion response coherence: a dual-process perspective. *Biological Psychology*, 98, 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.11.003.
- Feinberg, M., Willer, R., Antonenko, O., & John, O. P. (2012). Liberating reason from the passions: Overriding intuitionist moral judgments through emotion reappraisal. *Psychological Science*, 23(7), 788–795. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611434747.
- Fenigstein, A., Scheier, M. F., & Buss, A. H. (1975). Public and private self-consciousness: Assessment and theory. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 43(4), 522–527. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076760.
- Fernández-Aguilar, L., Navarro-Bravo, B., Ricarte, J., Ros, L., & Latorre, J. M. (2019). How effective are films in inducing positive and negative emotional states? A meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 14, e0225040. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0225040.
- Fisher, A. J. (2015). Toward a dynamic model of psychological assessment: Implications for personalized care. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 83(4), 825–836. https:// doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000026.
- Fisher, A. J., Medaglia, J. D., & Jeronimus, B. F. (2018). Lack of group-to-individual generalizabilityis a threat to human subjects research. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(27), E6106–E6115. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1711978115.
- Ford, B. Q., Lam, P., John, O. P., & Mauss, I. B. (2018). The psychological health benefits of accepting negative emotions and thoughts: Laboratory, diary, and longitudinal evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 115, 1075–1092. https://doi.org/10. 1037/pspp0000157.
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *American Psychologist*, 56(3), 218–226. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.218.
- Fridlund, A. J., Ekman, P., & Oster, H. (1987). Facial expressions of emotion. In A. W. Siegman, & S. Feldstein (Eds.). Nonverbal behavior and communication (pp. 143–223) (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Frijda, N. H. (1988). The laws of emotion. American Psychologist, 43(5), 349–358. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.43.5.349.
- Frijda, N. H., & Mesquita, B. (1994). The social roles and functions of emotions. In H. R. Markus, & S. Kitayama (Eds.). *Emotion and culture* (pp. 51–87). American Psychological Association.
- Frijda, N. H., Ortony, A., Sonnemans, J., & Clore, G. L. (1992). The complexity of intensity: Issues concerning the structure of emotion intensity. In M. S. Clark (Ed.). *Emotion* (pp. 60–89). Sage Publications.
- Funder, D. C., & Ozer, D. J. (2020). Evaluating effect size in psychological research: Sense and nonsense. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science, 2(2), 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245920979282.

- Girard, J. M., Cohn, J. F., Jeni, L. A., Sayette, M. A., & De la Torre, F. (2015). Spontaneous facial expression in unscripted social interactions can be measured automatically. *Behavior Research Methods*, 47(4), 1136–1147. https://doi.org/10.3758/ s13428-014-0536-1.
- Gordon, I., Wallot, S., & Berson, Y. (2021). Group-level physiological synchrony and individual-level anxiety predict positive affective behaviors during a group decisionmaking task. *Psychophysiology*, 58(9), https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13857.
- Gottman, J. M., & Levenson, R. W. (1985). A valid procedure for obtaining self-report of affect in marital interaction. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 53(2), 151–160.
- Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion regulation: Current status and future prospects. Psychological Inquiry, 26(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840x.2014.940781.
- Gross, J. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1995). Emotion elicitation using films. Cognition and Emotion, 9(1), 87–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699939508408966.
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(2), 348–362. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348.
- Gross, J. J., John, O. P., & Richards, J. M. (2000). The dissociation of emotion expression from emotion experience: A personality perspective. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(6), 712–726. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167200268006.
- Grossman, P., Watkins, L. L., Ristuccia, H., & Wilhelm, F. H. (1997). Blood pressure responses to mental stress in emotionally defensive patients with stable coronary artery disease. *American Journal of Cardiology*, 80(3), 343–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9149(97)00359-7.
- Grossman, P., Wilhelm, F. H., Kawachi, I., & Sparrow, D. (2001). Gender differences in psychophysiological responses to speech stress among older social phobics: Congruence and incongruence between self-evaluative and cardiovascular reactions. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 63(5), 765–777. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200109000-00010.
- Gruber, J. (2011). Can feeling too good be bad? Positive emotion persistence (PEP) in Bipolar Disorder. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(4), 217–221. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411414632.
- Gruber, J., Kogan, A., Quoidbach, J., & Mauss, I. B. (2013). Happiness is best kept stable: Positive emotion variability is associated with poorer psychological health. *Emotion*, 13(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030262.
- Hastings, P. D., Nuselovici, J. N., Klimes-Dougan, B., Kendziora, K. T., Usher, B. A., Ho, M. H. R., & Zahn-Waxler, C. (2009). Dysregulated coherence of subjective and cardiac emotional activation in adolescents with internalizing and externalizing problems. *Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 50(11), 1348–1356. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02159.x.
- Herring, D. R., Burleson, M. H., Roberts, N. A., & Devine, M. J. (2011). Coherent with laughter: Subjective experience, behavior, and physiological responses during amusement and joy. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 79(2), 211–218. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2010.10.007.
- Hertenstein, M. J., Keltner, D., App, B., Bulleit, B. A., & Jaskolka, A. R. (2006). Touch communicates distinct emotions. *Emotion*, 6(3), 528–533.
- Hodgson, R., & Rachman, S. (1974). II. Desynchrony in measures of fear. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 12(4), 319–326.
- Hofmann, W., & Grigoryan, L. (2023). The social psychology of everyday life. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 68, 77–137.
- Hollenstein, T., & Lanteigne, D. (2014). Models and methods of emotional concordance. *Biological Psychology*, 98, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691611400238https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.12.012.

Hsieh, F. S., Ferrer, E., Chen, S. C., Mauss, I. B., John, O., & Gross, J. J. (2011). A network approach for evaluating coherence in multivariate systems: An application to psychophysiological emotion data. *Psychometrika*, 76(1), 124–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11336-010-9194-0.

Insel, T. (2022). Healing: Our path from mental illness to mental health. *Penguin Random House*.

James, W. (1884). What is an emotion? Mind; A Quarterly Review of Psychology and Philosophy, 9, 188–205.

- John, O. P., & Soto, C. J. (2007). The importance of being valid. In R. W. Robins, R. C. Fraley, & R. F. Krueger (Eds.). Handbook of research methods in personality psychology (pp. 461–494) Guilford. (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27055049).
- John, O. P., Naumann, L. P., & Soto, C. J. (2008). Paradigm shift to the integrative Big-Five trait taxonomy: History, measurement, and conceptual issues. In O. P. John, R. W. Robins, & L. A. Pervin (Eds.). Handbook of personality: Theory and research (pp. 114–158) Guilford Press.
- Johnson, K. J., Waugh, C. E., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2010). Smile to see the forest: Facially expressed positive emotions broaden cognition. *Cognition and Emotion*, 24(2), 299–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930903384667.
- Kahneman, D. (2000). Evaluation by moments: Past and future. In D. Kahneman, & A. Tversky (Eds.). *Choices, values and frames* (pp. 693–708) Cambridge University Press.
- Keltner, D., & Kring, A. M. (1998). Emotion, social function, and psychopathology. *Review of General Psychology*, 2, 320–342.
- Keltner, D., & Haidt, J. (1999). Social functions of emotions at four levels of analysis. Cognition and Emotion, 13(5), 505–521.
- Keltner, D., Sauter, D., Tracy, J., & Cowen, A. (2019). Emotional expression: Advances in basic emotion theory. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 43(2), 133–160. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10919-019-00293-3.
- Kirschbaum, C., Pirke, K.-M., & Hellhammer, D. H. (1993). The 'Trier Social Stress Test': A tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting. *Neuropsychobiology*, 28(1–2), 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1159/000119004.
- Kleinginna, P. R., & Kleinginna, A. M. (1981). A categorized list of emotion definitions, with suggestions for a consensual definition. *Motivation and Emotion*, 5(4), 345–379.
- Kreibig, S. D. (2010). Autonomic nervous system activity in emotion: A review. *Biological Psychology*, 84(3), 394–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.03.010.
- Kring, A. M., & Mote, J. (2016). Emotion disturbances as transdiagnostic processes in psychopathology. In L. F. Barrett, M. Lewis, & J. M. Haviland-Jones (Eds.). *Handbook of emotion* (pp. 653–669) (4th ed.). Guilford Press.
- Kuppens, P., & Verduyn, P. (2017). Emotion dynamics. Current Opinion in Psychology, 17, 22–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.06.004.
- Kuppens, P., & Waugh, C. E. (2021). In P. Kuppens, & C. E. Waugh (Eds.). Affect dynamics. Springer https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82965-0.
- Kuppens, P., Dejonckheere, E., Kalokerinos, E. K., & Koval, P. (2022). Some recommendations on the use of daily life methods in affective science. *Affective Science*, 3(2), 505–515. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42761-022-00101-0.
- Lacey, J. I. (1967). Somatic response patterning and stress: Some revisions of activation theory. In M. H. Appley, & R. Trumbull (Eds.). *Psychological stress: Issues in research* (pp. 14–42). Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Lane, A. M. (2007). In N. S. Publishers (Ed.). Mood and human performance: Conceptual, measurement, and applied issues. Nova Science.
- Lang, P. J. (1988). What are the data of emotion? In V. Hamilton, G. H. Bower, & N. H. Frijda (Eds.). Cognitive perspectives on emotion and motivation (pp. 173–191). Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.

- Lang, P. J., Greenwald, M. K., Bradley, M. M., & Hamm, A. O. (1993). Looking at pictures: Affective, facial, visceral, and behavioral reactions. *Psychophysiology*, 30(3), 261–273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1993.tb03352.
- Larsen, J. T., Norris, C. J., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2003). Effects of positive and negative affect onelectromyographic activity over zygomaticus major and corrugator supercilii. *Psychophysiology*, 40(5), 776–785. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-8986.00078.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1975). A cognitively oriented psychologist looks at biofeedback. American Psychologist, 30(5), 553–561. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076649.

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Emotion and adaptation. Oxford University Press.

- Lench, H. C., Flores, S. A., & Bench, S. W. (2011). Discrete emotions predict changes in cognition, judgment, experience, behavior, and physiology: A meta-analysis of experimental emotion elicitations. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(5), 834–855. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0024244.
- Lerner, J. S., Li, Y., Valdesolo, P., & Kassam, K. S. (2015). Emotion and decision making. Annual Review of Psychology, 66, 799–823. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115043.
- Levenson, R. W. (1994). Human emotions: A functional view. In R. J. D. P. Ekman (Ed.). *The nature of emotion: Fundamental questions* (pp. 123–126). Oxford University Press.
- Levenson, R. W. (1999). The intrapersonal functions of emotion. *Cognition and Emotion*, 13, 481–504. https://doi.org/10.1080/026999399379159.
- Levenson, R. W. (2003). Blood, sweat, and fears: The autonomic architecture of emotion. In P. Ekman, J. J. Campos, R. J. Davidson, & F. B. M. de Waal (Eds.). *Emotions inside out: 130 years after Darwin's The expression of the emotions in man and animals* (pp. 348–366) New York University Press.
- Levenson, R. W. (2014). The autonomic nervous system and emotion. *Emotion Review*, 6(2), 100–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073913512003.
- Levenson, R. W., & Gottman, J. M. (1983). Marital interaction: Physiological linkage and affective exchange. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45(3), 587–597. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.45.3.587.
- Lindquist, K. A. (2013). Emotions emerge from more basic psychological ingredients: A modern psychological constructionist model. *Emotion Review*, 5(4), 356–368. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1754073913489750.
- Lindquist, K. A., Siegel, E. H., Quigley, K. S., & Barrett, L. F. (2013). The hundred-year emotion war: Are emotions natural kinds or psychological constructions? Comment on Lench, Flores, and Bench (2011). *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(1), 255–263. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0029038.
- Lohani, M., Payne, B. R., & Isaacowitz, D. M. (2018). Emotional coherence in early and later adulthood during sadness reactivity and regulation. *Emotion*, 18(6), 789–804. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000345.
- Lyubomirsky, S., King, L., & Diener, E. (2005). The benefits of frequent positive affect: Does happiness lead to success? *Psychological Bulletin*, 131(6), 803–855. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.803.
- Mandler, G., Mandler, J. M., Kremen, I., & Sholiton, R. (1961). The response to threat: Relations among verbal and physiological indices. *Psychological Monographs*, 75, 513.
- Martinez, A. M. (2017). Computational models of face perception. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 26(3), 263–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721417698535.
- Matsumoto, D., Keltner, D., Shiota, M. N., O'Sullivan, M., & Frank, M. (2008). Facial expressions of emotion. In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, & L. F. Barrett (Eds.). *Handbook of emotions* (pp. 211–234) (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Mauss, I. B., & Robinson, M. D. (2009). Measures of emotion: A review. Cognition and Emotion, 23, 209–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930802204677.

- Mauss, I. B., Wilhelm, F. H., & Gross, J. J. (2003). Autonomic recovery and habituation in social anxiety. *Psychophysiology*, 40(4), 648–653. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-8986. 00066.
- Mauss, I. B., Wilhelm, F. H., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Is there less to social anxiety than meets the eye? Emotion experience, expression, and bodily responding. *Cognition and Emotion*, 18(5), 631–662. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930341000112.
- Mauss, I. B., Levenson, R. W., McCarter, L., Wilhelm, F. H., & Gross, J. J. (2005). The tie that binds? Coherence among emotion experience, behavior, and physiology. *Emotion*, 5(2), 175–190. https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.5.2.175.
- Mauss, I. B., Shallcross, A. J., Troy, A. S., John, O. P., Ferrer, E., Wilhelm, F. H., & Gross, J. J. (2011). Don't hide your happiness! Positive emotion dissociation, social connectedness, and psychological functioning. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 100(4), 738–748. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022410.
- McEwen, B. S., & Seeman, T. (2009). Stress and affect: Applicability of the concepts of allostasis and allostatic load. In R. J. Davidson, K. R. Scherer, & H. H. Goldsmith (Eds.). *Handbook of affective sciences* (pp. 1117–1137) Oxford University Press.
- Mehu, M., Grammer, K., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (2007). Smiles when sharing. Evolution and Human Behavior, 28(6), 415–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2007.05.010.
- Mendes, W. B. (2009). Assessing the autonomic nervous system. In E. H.-J. a J. Beer (Ed.). Methods in the neurobiology of social and personality psychology (pp. 118–147). Guilford Press.
- Mendes, W. B. (2010). Weakened links between mind and body in older age: The case for maturational dualism in the experience of emotion. *Emotion Review*, 2(3), 240–244. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910364149.
- Mendes, W. B. (2016). Emotion and the autonomic nervous system. In L. E. Barrett, M. Lewis, & J. Haviland-Jones (Eds.). *Handbook of emotions* (4th ed.). Guilford Press.
- Mesquita, B. (2003). Emotions as dynamic cultural phenomena. In H. G. In R. J. Davidson, & P. Rozin (Eds.). *Handbook of the affective sciences* (pp. 871–890) Oxford University Press.
- Molenaar, P. C. M. (1985). A dynamic factor model for the analysis of multivariate timeseries. Psychometrika, 50(2), 181–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/Bf02294246.
- Molenaar, P. C. M. (2015). The future of analysis of intraindividual variation. In M. Diehl, K. Hooker, & M. J. Sliwinski (Eds.). *Handbook of intraindividual variability across the life span* (pp. 343–356). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Molenaar, P. C. M., & Campbell, C. G. (2009). The new person-specific paradigm in psychology. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 18(2), 112–117. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01619.x.
- Niedenthal, P. M., & Brauer, M. (2012). Social functionality of human emotion. Annual Review of Psychology, 63, 259–285. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.121208.131605.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2001). Upheavals of thought: The intelligence of emotions. Cambridge University Press.
- Öhman, A., Hamm, A., & Hugdahl, K. (2000). Cognition and the autonomic nervous system: Orienting, anticipation, and conditioning. In J. T. Cacioppo, L. G. Tassinary, & G. G. Berntson (Eds.). *Handbook of psychophysiology* (pp. 533–575). Cambridge University Press.
- Panksepp, J. (2007). Neurologizing the psychology of affects: How appraisal-based constructivism and basic emotion theory can coexist. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 2(3), 281–295.
- Park, Y., Gordon, A., & Mendes, W. (2023). Age differences in physiological reactivity to daily emotional experiences. *Affective Science*, 4, 487–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s42761-023-00207-z.
- Petrova, K., Nevarez, M. D., Rice, J., Waldinger, R. J., Preacher, K. J., & Schulz, M. S. (2021). Coherence between feelings and heart rate: Links to early adversity and responses to stress. *Affective Science*, 2(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42761-020-00027-5.

- Plutchik, R. (1980). A general psychoevolutionary theory of emotion. In R. Plutchik, & H. Kellerman (Eds.). *Emotion: Theory, research, and emotion*. Academic Press.
- Rachman, S. (1978). Human fears: A three systems analysis. Scandinavian Journal of Behaviour Therapy, 7(4), 237–245.
- Rattel, J. A., Mauss, I. B., Liedlgruber, M., & Wilhelm, F. H. (2020). Sex differences in emotional concordance. *Biological Psychology*, 151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho. 2020.107845.
- Reisenzein, R. (2000a). Exploring the strength of association between the components of emotion syndromes: The case of surprise. *Cognition and Emotion*, 14(1), 1–38.
- Reisenzein, R. (2000b). The subjective experience of surprise. In H. Bless, & J. P. Forgas (Eds.). The message within: The role of subjective experience in social cognition and behavior (pp. 262–279) Psychology Press.
- Reisenzein, R., Studtmann, M., & Horstmann, G. (2013). Coherence between emotion and facial expression: Evidence from laboratory experiments. *Emotion Review*, 5(1), 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073912457228.
- Roseman, I. J. (2011). Emotional behaviors, emotivational goals, emotion strategies: Multiple levels of organization integrate variable and consistent responses. *Emotion Review*, 3(4), 434–443. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073911410744.
- Rosenberg, E. L., & Ekman, P. (1994). Coherence between expressive and experiential systems in emotion. *Cognition & Emotion*, 8(3), 201–229.
- Rottenberg, J., & Johnson, S. L. (Eds.). (2007). Emotion and psychopathology: Bridging affective and clinical science. American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/11562-000.
- Rottenberg, J., Ray, R. R., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Emotion elicitation using films. In J. A. Coan, & J. J. B. Allen (Eds.). *The handbook of emotion elicitation and assessment* (pp. 9–28) Oxford University Press.
- Ruch, W. (1995). Will the real relationship between facial expression and affective experience please stand up: The case of exhilaration. *Cognition and Emotion*, 9(1), 33–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699939508408964.
- Ruch, W. (1997). State and trait cheerfulness and the induction of exhilaration: A FACS study. European Psychologist, 2(4), 328–341. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.2.4.328.
- Ruef, A. M., & Levenson, R. W. (2007). Continuous measurement of emotion. In J. A. Coan, & J. J. B. Allen (Eds.). *Handbook of emotion elicitation and assessment* (pp. 286–297) University Press.
- Russell, J. A. (2003). Core affect and the psychological construction of emotion. *Psychological Review*, 110(1), 145–172. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.110.1.145.
- Russell, J. A., Weiss, A., & Mendelsohn, G. A. (1989). Affect grid: A single-item scale of pleasure and arousal. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(3), 493–502. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.3.493.
- Ryder, A. G., Yang, J., Zhu, X. Z., Yao, S. Q., Yi, J. Y., Heine, S. J., & Bagby, R. M. (2008). The cultural shaping of depression: Somatic symptoms in China, psychological symptoms in North America? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 117(2), 300–313. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0021-843x.117.2.300.
- Saito, A., Sato, W., & Yoshikawa, S. (2023). Altered emotional mind-body coherence in older adults. *Emotion*. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0001249.
- Samson, A. C., Kreibig, S. D., Soderstrom, B., Wade, A. A., & Gross, J. J. (2016). Eliciting positive, negative and mixed emotional states: A film library for affective scientists. *Cognition & Emotion*, 30(5), 827–856. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931. 2015.1031089.
- Scherer, K. R. (1984). On the nature and function of emotion: A component process approach. In K. R. Scherer, & P. Ekman (Eds.). *Approaches to emotion* (pp. 293–317)L. Erlbaum Associates.

Sommerfeldt, S. L., Schaefer, S. M., Brauer, M., Ryff, C. D., & Davidson, R. J. (2019). Individual differences in the association between subjective stress and heart rate are related to psychological and physical well-being. *Psychological Science*, 1016–1029. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797619849555.

Stemmler, G. (1992). Differential psychophysiology: Persons in situations. Springer-Verlag.

- Stemmler, G., Heldmann, M., Pauls, C. A., & Scherer, T. (2001). Constraints for emotion specificity in fear and anger: The context counts. *Psychophysiology*, 38(2), 275–291.
- Sze, J. A., Gyurak, A., Yuan, J. W., & Levenson, R. W. (2010). Coherence between emotional experience and physiology: Does body awareness training have an impact? *Emotion*, 10(6), 803–814. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020146.
- Tomashin, A., Gordon, I., & Wallot, S. (2022). Interpersonal physiological synchrony predicts group cohesion. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 16. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnhum.2022.903407.
- Tomkins, S. S. (1962). Affect, imagery, consciousness. Springer Publishing Company.
- Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (2008). The evolutionary psychology of the emotions and their relationship to internal regulatory variables. In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, & L. F. Barrett (Eds.). *Handbook of emotions* (pp. 114–137). Guilford.
- Tracy, J. L., & Robins, R. W. (2004). Show your pride: Evidence for a discrete emotion expression. *Psychological Science*, 15(3), 194–197.
- Tracy, J. L., & Randles, D. (2011). Four models of basic emotions: A review of Ekman and Cordaro, Izard, Levenson, and Panksepp and Watt. *Emotion Review*, 3(4), 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073911410747.
- Tsai, J. L., Chentsova-Dutton, Y., Freire-Bebeau, L., & Przymus, D. E. (2002). Emotional expression and physiology in European Americans and Hmong Americans. *Emotion*, 2(4), 380–397. https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.2.4.380.
- Van Doren, N., Dickens, C. N., Benson, L., Brick, T. R., Gatzke-Kopp, L., & Oravecz, Z. (2021). Capturing emotion coherence in daily life: Using ambulatory physiology measures and ecological momentary assessments to examine within-person associations and individual differences. *Biological Psychology*, 162, 108074.
- van Kleef, G. A., De Dreu, C. K., & Manstead, A. S. (2004). The interpersonal effects of anger and happiness in negotiations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 57–76. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.1.57.
- Wallot, S., Roepstorff, A., & Monster, D. (2016). Multidimensional Recurrence Quantification Analysis (MdRQA) for the analysis of multidimensional time-series: A software implementation in MATLAB and its application to group-level data in joint action. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01835.
- Watson, J. B. (1924). Psychology from the standpoint of a behaviorist (2nd ed.). Lippincott.
- West, T., & Mendes, W. B. (2023). Affect contagion: Physiologic covariation and linkage offer insight into socially shared thoughts, emotions, and experiences. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 67, 73–129.
- Wilhelm, F. H., & Roth, W. T. (1998). Taking the laboratory to the skies: Ambulatory assessment of self-report, autonomic, and respiratory responses in flying phobia. *Psychophysiology*, 35(5), 596–606. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0048577298970196.
- Wilhelm, F. H., & Roth, W. T. (2001). The somatic symptom paradox in DSM-IV anxiety disorders: suggestions for a clinical focus in psychophysiology. *Biological Psychology*, 57(1–3), 105–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0511(01)00091-6.
- Wilhelm, F. H., & Grossman, P. (2010). Emotions beyond the laboratory: Theoretical fundaments, study design, and analytic strategies for advanced ambulatory assessment. *Biological Psychology*, 84(3), 552–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.01.017.
- Wilhelm, F. H., Grossman, P., & Roth, W. T. (2005). Assessment of heart rate variability during alterations in stress: complex demodulation vs. spectral analysis. *Biomedical Sciences Instrumentation*, 41, 346–351.

- Willroth, E., John, O. P., Biesanz, J., & Mauss, I. B. (2020). Understanding short-term variability in life satisfaction: The individual differences in evaluating life satisfaction (IDELS) model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *119*, 229–248.
- Zaki, J., & Cikara, M. (2015). Addressing empathic failures. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 24(6), 471–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721415599978.
- Zaki, J., Bolger, N., & Ochsner, K. (2008). It takes two: The interpersonal nature of empathic accuracy. *Psychological Science*, 19(4), 399–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1467-9280.2008.02099.x.
- Zerwas, F. K., John, O. P., Wilhelm, F. H., & Mauss, I. B. (2023). Measurement, nature, and well-being implications of within-person coherence between emotion experience, behavior, and physiology. *Unpublished Manuscript*.
- Zerwas, F. K., Springstein, T., Karnilowicz, H. R., Lam, P., Butler, E. A., John, O. P., & Mauss, I. B. (2021). I feel you": Greater linkage between friends' physiological responses and emotional experience is associated with greater empathic accuracy. *Biological Psychology*, 161, 108079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2021.108079.
- Zhou, X., Dere, J., Zhu, X., Yao, S., Chentsova-Dutton, Y. E., & Ryder, A. G. (2011). Anxiety symptom presentations in Han Chinese and Euro-Canadian outpatients: is distress always somatized in China? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 135(1-3), 111–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.06.049.